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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Sing Lee Software (Group)
Limited (the “Company”) (the “Directors”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNRER

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China, Hangzhou Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Zhejiang Branch
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BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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5-9A, Morrison Hill Road

Wanchai
Hong Kong
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16th Floor, Building 9
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Sandun, Xihu District
Hangzhou, China

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton, HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Abacus Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

GEM STOCK CODE

8076

WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.singlee.com.cn
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On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Sing Lee
Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited financial results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall Business of the Group in 2021

The pandemic continues to rage the world, and the global
financial crisis triggered by the pandemic continues to unfold.
Although China is gradually recovery, the extent of the impact
on all industries and sectors is evident to all. As a result of the
significant delay in the overall business of the bank last year in
2020, the relevant business units of the bank in the first half of this
year have requested their suppliers to catch up with the work that
was not completed last year, resulting in a significant increase
in business development in the first half of the year compared
to 2020. In the second half of the year, there were sporadic
outbreaks in some provinces and cities, and the Group’s business
returned to a state of occasional interruptions from July onwards.

The rebound in the economy has led to an overall increase
in workload. The Group’s annual sales revenue for the year
increased by 10% compared to the same period last year,
while the overall cost increased by 10% compared to last year
and the annual loss decreased by 56% compared to the same
period last year. Despite the lack of profit, and the fact that it
is still far from the net profit of RMB25,004,000 in 2019, the
situation has improved significantly thanks to the efforts of
our team. At the same time, we have achieved better results
in product development ideas and re-development, and have
been recognised by most of our bank customers, which is also
a requirement for the overall strategic development of a core
business and two complementary products.

Taking into account the direction of the future development of
the general environment in Mainland China, in particular the trend
of financial reform and localisation of all financial products in
Mainland China, the Group has sold the Group’s bank transaction
service in order to achieve the goal of increasing capital, focusing
investment, weathering the difficulties and making another
breakthrough.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER|E

With the continuous progress of the strategic development
direction of “New One and Two Wings”, the gradual reopening
and reconstruction of merchant branches, the post-pandemic
shift in business model, and the increasing demand for online
products from banks, the new payment form of Sing Lee
Software has been given good opportunities for redevelopment,
especially in the next few years when digital money will be
developed and upgraded in all aspects, and the direction of
research and development will tend to combine online and offline.
Apart from the original payment products, the cloud version of
MIS (payment software) was introduced to the market to meet the
needs of the increasingly diversified payment process, involving
overall aggregated payments, government-integrated payments
(government industry process-based payments), smart hospitals
and payments. Major projects include the Small and Micro Cloud
Shop project collaborated by Sing Lee, CCB and Meituan,
the “CCB Life” 020 platform, and the Upay payment system
implemented in various hotel groups. At the same time, the Group
has shifted its payment landscape from offline to online, such as
working with banks and third parties to strengthen the overall
process development. In addition, with state-owned banks’
development diminishing, it has become increasingly important for
payment products to go further to small and medium-sized banks
and small merchants, and the results are beginning to show that
they are well prepared for the development and upgrade of digital
money in the coming years.
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QOutsource service business of bank merchants in a core business
and two complementary products of the Group will cover 19
provincial branches in 13 provinces by the end of this year.
These include ICBC, Agricultural Bank of China, CCB and Post
and Reserve Bank, covering major economic provinces such as
Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Guangdong and Sichuan, as well as provinces
with policy advantages such as Northwest China, Xinjiang and
Guizhou. The business has evolved from mainly maintaining
hardware devices to a model of “building on the existing business
and developing value-added services as the core”. These value-
added services are the core of the future merchant services, such
as instalment loans for bank merchants, QR code development
and other marketing services. At the same time, the direction and
efficiency of merchant outsourcing services will be well aligned
with the development of the payment business towards small
merchants and the consumers. The pandemic has made the
integration of online and offline marketing models the mainstream
development direction in the future, and the Group will gradually
withdraw from provincial lines that are unprofitable or have
excessively low profits and no further development prospects
next year. However, the service will insist on the development
direction of “continuously expanding the offline market, reinforcing
value-added services, strengthening cooperation with banks and
developing merchant services business with precise objectives”,
gradually combining the original under-concentrated business
in the strategic development, so that the combination of bank
commercial outsourcing services and payment products will
become the core of the Group’s strategic development.

Meanwhile, Sing Lee has been developing the payment industry in
China for nearly 30 years and has witnessed the changes and ups
and downs of the financial payment industry in China, with the
People’s Bank of China taking the lead in introducing the digital
money pilot to the market in 2020. Just as the development of the
Greater Bay Area is the second wave of reform in China, digital
money is the second wave of financial and monetary reform and
one of the Group’s key strategic developments for the future,
giving the Group a great opportunity to redevelop the payment
sector.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER|E

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Payment + Outsourcing Services are still the core of Sing Lee,
and the services for small and medium-sized merchants and new
payment process evolved from the Group’s traditional operations
will be our main sources of big data. On this basis, the Group
will form a new OFFLINE TO ONLINE (020) model with its own
characteristics. Meanwhile, the development of mixed business
portfolio will be better aligned to the overall requirements of the
financial environment.

The Group will continue to implement stringent cost control and
strengthen the risk control in the overall and various businesses
S0 as to achieve a sound cycle of “broadening sources of income
and reducing expenses”.
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On behalf of the board of Directors, | would like to express sincere
gratitude to all shareholders for their support and to all employees
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Hung Yung Lai
Chairman

23 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sales of
information and network technologies and services to the financial
industry in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Revenue of the Group comprises of:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the financial year”), the
Group recorded a total revenue of approximately RMB94,408,000,
an increase of 10% as compared to the same period of last year
(2020: approximately RMB85,535,000).
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Revenue
0

2021 2020
—E-—fF ZETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Sales of software products IHEBHER 5,038 6,320
Sales of related hardware products THEFRIEFE R 2,827 2,065
Provision of technical support services 12t E T2 32 RS 86,543 77,150
94,408 85,535

The increase in the turnover of the Group was mainly attributable
to the increase of 12% in the revenue of the Group’s provision of
technical support services when compared to the same period of
last year. The total revenue for the year 2021 mainly came from
the provision of technical support services. The source of total
revenue for the year 2021 was the same as that for the year of
2020.

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2021 is increased
by 19% to approximately RMB93,492,000 (2020: approximately
RMB78,776,000). Cost of sales increased was mainly attributable
to increase in staff cost. The Group’s overall gross profit margin
was approximately 1% (2020: approximately 8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWR DM

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2021 is decreased by 7% to approximately RMB14,640,000
(2020: approximately RMB15,797,000). The decrease in
administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the disposal
of a subsidiary during the year of 2021. Distribution and selling
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 is decreased
by 23% to approximately RMB9,274,000 (2020: approximately
RMB12,037,000). The decrease in distribution and selling
expenses was mainly due to our effective cost control measures
and disposal of a subsidiary during the year of 2021. Other
income mainly included refund of value added tax, grants and
interest income; and other gains and losses mainly included
exchange differences, fair value changes in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and gain on disposal of a subsidiary.

Research and development expenses for the year ended
31 December 2021 is decreased by 13% to approximately
RMB8,180,000 (2020: approximately RMB9,388,000). The
decrease in research and development expenses was mainly due
to the disposal of a subsidiary during the year of 2021.

Loss amounted to approximately RMB13,768,000 (2020:
approximately RMB31,204,000), decrease of 56% as compared
to the same period of last year, and such decrease in loss was
mainly attributable to (i) increased in revenue and (ii) the gain on
disposal of a subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2021
which was absent during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Hangzhou Singlee Technology Company Limited (“Singlee
Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company, was established in
Hangzhou, PRC, is regarded as a High and New Technology
Enterprise and is therefore entitled to 15% preferential tax rate
for PRC enterprise income tax. According to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax Law, the applicable tax rate of Hangzhou Singlee
Software Company Limited (“Singlee Software”), and Xin Yintong
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Xin YinTong”) is 25% for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly the Group’s
owned properties, leasehold improvements, computer and
related equipment and motor vehicles. Decrease of 12% is mainly
attributable to impairment losses recognised in addition to usual
depreciation.

Intangible assets comprise mainly the Group’s capitalised
development costs. Decrease of 100% is mainly attributable
to the Group’s disposal of a subsidiary during the year and
impairment losses recognised in addition to usual amortization.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade receivables and contract assets decrease mainly
attributable to the Group’s disposal of a subsidiary during the
year. During the year under review, the trade receivables and
contract assets turnover (the average of the trade receivables
balance and contract assets at the beginning and the end of
the year divided by the total revenue of the year times 365
days) decreased by 118 days to 165 days (2020: 283 days).
The Group’s customers are generally granted with credit period
ranging from 120-180 days. The Group will continue to exercise
due care in managing the credit exposure.

Borrowings amounted to approximately RMB30,368,000 as
at 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately RMB63,789,000),
representing a decrease of 52%, which is mainly attributable to
the repayment of unsecured director’s loans and secured bank
loans. The borrowings would be used for general corporate
purposes including working capital.

We will continue striving our best to increase sales and strengthen
our cost control measures. With the products of our Group
becoming more mature in the market and the effective cost
control, we expect that financial results of the Group would be
further improved in the coming year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING
RATIO

The operating expenditures of the Group are funded by cash
flow from operations and borrowings. The Group has adequate
sources of funds to meet its future working capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB, US dollars and HK dollars,
amounted to approximately RMB44,976,000 (2020: approximately
RMB58,358,000), representing a decrease of approximately 23%
as compared with the end of previous year, which was mainly due
to repayment of borrowings. The Group’s current ratio, based on
total current assets over total current liabilities, as at 31 December
2021 was approximately 3 times (2020: approximately 3 times).

The Group’s net cash outflow for the year ended 31 December

2021 approximately amounted to RMB13,382,000 (2020:
approximately RMB17,812,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWR DM

At 31 December 2021, the Group had the following outstanding
borrowings:

RZBZ—F+ZA=+—H  AEEHKREER
AT

2021 2020
—EB=-—-F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Fixed-rate borrowings: EEEBE:

Unsecured loans from a director BEREEEE 18,368 44,789
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 9,000 15,000
Unsecured bank borrowings EIAIRITEER 3,000 4,000
30,368 63,789

The borrowings’ contractual maturity dates are as follows: BEEHIIBMANT
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within one year 1FR 12,461 20,668
Between one to two years 1524 - 10,429
Between two to five years 2EBF 45 1,460
More than five years 51 17,862 31,232
30,368 63,789

The loans from a director of approximately RMB17,862,000
(2020: RMB43,854,000) are denominated in HK dollars, other
borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the
respective group entity.

During the year 2020, the Group entered into two revolving
loan facility agreements with a bank with a total credit amounts
of RMB15,000,000. The maturity date of the two revolving
loan facilities is on 6 July 2025 and 22 July 2025 respectively.
These two revolving loan facilities were utilised amounted to
RMB9,000,000 as at 31 December 2021. The unutilised facility
would be utilised as the working capital.

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year (2020:
Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities over total
assets, as at 31 December 2021 was approximately 48% (2020:
approximately 57%). The Group has confident that gearing ratio
can improve in the coming year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 122,687,000 share
options were lapsed and expired. During the year ended 31
December 2020, 17,794,000 share options were lapsed and
expired.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no other changes in
capital structure during the year ended 31 December 2021.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Disposal of a subsidiary of the Company

On 26 March 2021, the Transferor (Hangzhou Singlee Technology
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company), the Transferee and Hangzhou Hengxin Lirong
Software Company Limited (“Hangzhou HL”, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company established on 20 January
2021) entered into the equity transfer agreement, pursuant to
which the Transferor has conditionally agreed to sell and the
Transferee has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire
equity interest in Hangzhou HL. The Group completed such
disposal on 24 May 2021. For details, please refer to the relevant
announcements and circular published by the Company on 26
March 2021, 5 May 2021 and 24 May 2021 respectively.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company did not have any
other significant acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2021.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established and maintained sufficient risk
management procedures to identify and control various types
of risk within the organisation and the external environment with
active management participation and effective internal control
procedures in the best interest of the Group and its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWR DM

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue segmented on types of goods or services
delivered or provided:

(@ Sales of software products
(b) Sales of related hardware products
(c) Provision of technical support services

For the year ended 31 December 2021, provision of technical
support services remained the principal source of revenue of the
Group. This services revenue accounted for 92% (2020: 90%) of
Group revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
revenue from sales of related hardware products and provision of
technical support services increase of 37% and 12% respectively
as compared to the same period of last year. Increase in contracts
is the main factor leading to the revenue increased. Revenue from
sales of software products decrease of 20% as compared to the
same period of last year. Decrease in contracts is the main factor
leading to the revenue decreased.

Segment loss is approximately RMB27,379,000 (2020:
approximately RMB31,152,000).

Details of segment information are presented for the Group as
disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 1,008 employees
(2020: 965 employees), including both the PRC and Hong
Kong employees. Remuneration and bonus policy are basically
determined by the performance of the individual employees
and financial results of the Group. Total staff costs for the year
amounted to approximately RMB84,602,000 (2020: approximately
RMB74,334,000).

The Group adopted a share option scheme, details of which were
set out in the “Report of the Directors”.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, certain properties of the Group
located in Hangzhou with an aggregate net carrying amount
of approximately RMB8,901,000 (2020: approximately
RMB9,448,000) were used to secure the banking facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

Details of the Group’s future plans for material investments or
capital assets and their expected source of funding have been
stated in the Company’s prospectus dated 30 August 2001 under
the sections headed “Statement of Business Obijectives” and
“Reasons for the New Issue and Use of Proceeds” respectively.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group’s revenue generating operations are mainly transacted
in RMB. The Directors consider the impact of foreign exchange
exposure to the Group is minimal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected
by our continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in our daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
adheres to the principle of Recycling and Reducing. It implements
green office practices such as make use of water efficiently,
double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling bins,
promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption
by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance. The Group
is also using office equipment carrying Energy Label issued by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department which save energy
in the offices.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to
time and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses to move
towards adhering the 3Rs — Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and
enhance environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and

regulations of the places in which the Group operates that which
has significant impact on the business operations of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWR DM

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets.
Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with business partners and bank enterprises to
achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, our senior management
have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and
shared business update with them when appropriate. During the
year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.

The Group collaborates with responsible suppliers to provide
quality goods with competitive pricing. To this end, the Group
implements policies on supply chain management to ensure
fair suppliers selection procedures. The suppliers should fulfill
the requirements in the supplier screening procedures and the
Group’s experienced employees ensure those goods received
from the suppliers meet the Group’s expectation.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market prices, like foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Rates Risk

The Group’s assets and liabilities were denominated in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and United States dollars (“USD”), in
view of the potential HKD and USD exchange rate fluctuation the
Group undertake foreign exchange rate risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the
need arises.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, the Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when
appropriate, through variety of means.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet
its obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain
adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk,
the Group monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level
of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the
Group’s operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of
borrowings and ensures compliance with all the loan limits or
covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically
rests with every function at divisional and departmental levels.
Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. Our
management will identify and assess key operational exposures
regularly so that appropriate risk response can be taken.

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of
losses relative to the expected return on any particular investment.
Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and
return across different investments, and thus risk assessment
is a core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper
authorisation system has been set up and detailed analysis will
be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the
progress of the investments of the Group would be submitted to
the Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWR DM

Manpower and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence which would meet the business
objectives of the Group. The Group will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Business Risk

Performance of the Group’s core business will be affected
by various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, performance of property markets in regions where our
investments locate, the performance of the fund managers for our
invested funds, which would not be mitigated even with careful
and prudent investment strategy and strict procedure.

Cyber Attack and Security Risk

The Group could be impacted negatively if it sustains cyberattacks
and other data security breaches that disrupt its operations or
damage its reputation. For example, various information and
sensitive or confidential data relating to its operations may be
subject to attack from hackers and other malicious software
programs that attempt to exploit any security vulnerability in its
system; Sophisticated software and applications that it produces
may contain “bugs” that could unexpectedly interfere with the
operation of the system or may present unidentified security
risk; Misappropriation of sensitive or confidential data about
its customers could lead the Group to loss of reputation, and
exposure to potential litigation and liability. The Group will continue
to enhance IT security and security information awareness and
comply with mandatory privacy and security standards and
protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards, or
contractual obligations.

Intellectual Property Risk

The Group could suffer if it does not develop and protect its
own intellectual property. The Group will take full advantage
of legal protections by applying for software copyright. For
licensed Intellectual Property, take appropriate steps to assure its
continued validity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS OF NEW PRODUCTS

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” for a discussion on
this.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE GROUP LT RFENTBEHE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017
HE-Z-ZF HE-ZT-NF BEE_Z-\F HE_TtF
+=A + B +ZA=t-B +ZA=t-B +ZA=t-H
H5E LEE LtEE LEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue HERA 94,408 85,535 129,675 114,088 79,168

(Loss)/profit attributable to R el (B518) /&7

shareholders (13,768) (31,204) 25,004 22,203 15,798
Total assets BEHE 100,082 151,196 192,474 152,558 107,905
Total liabilities BERE (48,102) (85,448) (95,522) (102,174) (82,555)
Net assets BEFE 51,980 65,748 96,952 50,384 25,350
RS (EE)ROERAR
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEREBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hung, Yung Lai, aged 77, the Chairman of our Group and
the director of Strategic Development Committee. Mr. Hung,
who graduated from Shanghai Conservatory of Music, is also
among the founders of the Group. He is in possession of more
than 30 years’ company management and strategy programming
experience and over 20 years’ successful experience in managing
high-tech companies; hence he is familiar with the China business
management and marketing planning. Mr. Hung is now in charge
of the Group’s macrostrategy and the enterprise’s development.

Mr. Cui, Jian, aged 68, a Director of our Group. Mr. Cui is one
of the founders of Hangzhou Singlee Software Co., Ltd. and has
been working for our Group since its founding in 1993. Mr. Cui
is responsible for the investment programming of the Group.
Before joining the Group, he used to work for China Hangzhou
Automatization Research Institute and Hangzhou Huayuan
Computer Application Research Institute as director and president
of their Developing Departments.

Mr. Hung, Ying, aged 52, a Director and Vice Chairman of our
Group. He had been the deputy general manager of Hangzhou
Singlee Technology Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Singlee Software
Co., Ltd of the Group from April 2007 to April 2011. Prior to
joining the Group, he had worked as the marketing director and
general manager in Beijing San Ding Ti Lian Network Technology
Company Limited from May 2001 to December 2005. Mr. Hung
graduated in information, social and management sciences
(majoring in business administration) from University of Paisley and
obtained an EMBA from Peking University. Mr. Hung has several
years of experiences in management, and is specialised in market
planning and sales. Mr. Hung is the son of Mr. Hung Yung Lai, the
chairman and executive director of the Company.

Mr. Lin, Xue Xin, aged 46, a Director and Chief Executive
Officer of our Group. Mr. Lin has 20 years of experience in the
field of computer technology. He obtained his bachelor degree of
Computer Science and Technology from People’s Liberation Army
Polytechnic University in 2009. Mr. Lin joined the Group since
2000 and was appointed as the general manager of Hangzhou
Singlee Technology Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, in May
2011. Between 2010 and 2012, Mr. Lin was also employed as a
technology expert in UnionPay.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Pao, Ping Wing, JP, aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the company in December
2008. In the past years, he had been actively serving on
government policy committees and authorities, including those
relating to town planning, urban renewal, public housing and
environment matters. He has been appointed as a Justice of
the Peace of Hong Kong since 1987. He was an ex-urban
councilor. He obtained a Master of Science Degree in Human
Settlements Planning and Development from the Asian Institute
of Technology in Thailand in 1980. He was elected as one of the
Ten Outstanding Young Persons of Hong Kong in 1982 and one
of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons of the World in 1983. Mr.
Pao is a Hon. Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Housing. He
is an independent non-executive director of Oriental Enterprise
Holdings Limited, Capital Environmental Holdings Limited,
Zhuzhou CRRC Times Electric Co., Ltd., Soundwill Holdings
Limited and Maoye International Holdings Limited, all of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Thomas Tam, aged 74, an independent non-executive
director of the Group, is the fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was the founding
partner of Wongs & Tam, Certified Public Accountants, a public
accounting firm in Hong Kong, set up in 1978 and is now a
consultant of the accounting firm.

Mr. Lo, King Man, JP, SBS, BBS, aged 84, an independent
non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Lo began his career
in academic administration at the University of Hong Kong and
became deputy director of the former Hong Kong Polytechnic in
1986. He was also appointed director of the Hong Kong Academy
for performing arts in 1993. Mr. Lo is the Justice of Peace in Hong
Kong, and he has an extensive record of public service. He has
also served on the governing or executive bodies of numerous
educational and cultural organizations. He was appointed as
independent non-executive director of Chow Sang Sang Holding
Int’l Ltd. in September 2004.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEREBE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong, Tsz Kwan, aged 42, is the Chief Financial Officer and
the Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Tong is the member of
the Anxi County, Fujian Province Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Tong is the Vice Chairman
of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations Limited, East
Kowloon. Mr. Tong is also the Council Member of Hong Kong
Fukien Chamber of Commerce, director of the Hong Kong Fujian
Chamber of Commerce Education Fund Co., Ltd., member of the
Youth Affairs Working Committee of China Star Light Charity Fund
Association, executive vice president of the Hong Kong Quarry
Bay Residents Association. Mr. Tong is also the Vice General
Secretary of the 5th Committee of Quanzhou Overseas Friendship
Association and director of the An Kwei Clans Association (H.K.)
Limited. He is the Vocational Training Council Accountancy
Training Board member, External Academic Advisor of Master of
Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance in
City University of Hong Kong, External Advisor of the Department
of Accountancy and Law of Hong Kong Baptist University and
advisor of Business Association, Business and Economics
Association, the Hong Kong University Students’ Union. Mr. Tong
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree in Finance from
University of Southern Queensland. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tong is a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and a fellow member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He joined
the Group in June 2007. He has accumulated over ten years
of accounting, auditing and corporate financing experiences.
He is now responsible for accounting, corporate financing and
company secretarial duties. He was appointed as independent
non-executive director of Kinetix Systems Holdings Limited in
September 2021.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are the development and sale of
information and network technologies and services to the financial
industry in the PRC. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from operation by
principal activities and geographical area of operations for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 76.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Company Ordinance”), including a fair review of the
business, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2021,
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
disclosures relating to the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, and relationships with major stakeholders can
be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this directors’ report.

Throughout 2021, there was no incidence of non-compliance with

the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
19 May 2022 to 25 May 2022, both days inclusive, in order to
determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 25
May 2022 (the “AGM”). In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the forthcoming AGM, all transfer accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Abacus Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 18 May 2022.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 19
of the annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out on page 79 and page 192
respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options scheme
are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the law of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders. At 31
December 2021, the company had no reserve available for
distribution to equity of the company (2020: Nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2021 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier
— five largest suppliers combined

6% (2020: 27%)
26% (2020: 46%)

Sales
—the largest customer
— five largest customers combined

71% (2020; 48%)
96% (2020: 76%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers stated above.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to any directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2021, shareholders (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on all
circumstances at general meeting of any other members of the
Group or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

FERRREMALRARS - HEKRDRE
BECERNAR

AARBUEMESHITRARAM  R_F——%F
T-A=1t—8 UTRAREEZFMBEGEGE
XVEBEF 2} H30D B IR BAA R BRI BER AR
AR SRABRE A (D BB R R SR (N R R B AT
BAHERIN RERIEEBEMERAEERT
RAEBEMEMKE ARBRRAG EREZEM
BRIRAEE Z5%3 A L SiREE S RS &
{5155 3361k /A7 BB B LM ATRDER

RARFREEIEBTZERER

Number of shares held

FEROEE

Capacity/ Long Short Percentage of

Name of shareholder Nature of interest position position shareholding

REEM B @R HE *E BREREAESWL

Goldcorp Industrial Limited Beneficial owner 431,782,500 - 32.78%
BB A (note 1)
(Bizt1)

Great Song Enterprises Beneficial owner 431,782,500 - 32.78%
Limited EnEEA (notes 1 and 2)
(Hat1X2)

Mr. Hung Yung Lai Corporate interest 431,782,500 - 32.78%
AERLIE S A B (notes 2 and 4)
(Mfz#2%4)

Beneficial owner 37,037,500 - 2.81%

ExREEA

Ms. Li Kei Ling Corporate interest 431,782,500 - 32.78%
THEHBZL EE R (notes 2 and 3)
(Mfz#2%3)

Mdm lu Pun Family interest 468,820,000 - 35.59%
izt KB (note 5)
(H7t5)
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Notes:

Goldcorp Industrial Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands equally owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai and Great Song
Enterprises Limited which in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling.

The Shares were held by Goldcorp Industrial Limited.

Ms. Li Kei Ling controls more than one third of the voting power of Great
Song Enterprises Limited which in turn holds more than one third of the
voting power of Goldcorp Industrial Limited. Ms Li Kei Ling is deemed, by
virtue of the SFO, to be interested in the same 431,782,500 shares held by
Goldcorp Industrial Limited.

Mr. Hung Yung Lai controls more than one third of the voting power of
Goldcorp Industrial Limited. Mr. Hung Yung Lai is deemed, by virtue of the
SFO, to be interested in the same 431,782,500 shares held by Goldcorp
Industrial Limited.

These shares are beneficially owned by Goldcorp Industrial Limited
as mentioned in Note 4 of above. Mr. Hung Yung Lai is deemed to be
interested in the same 431,782,500 shares held by Goldcorp Industrial
Limited. Mdm Iu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is deemed to be
interested in these shares in which Mr. Hung Yung Lai is deemed or taken
to be interested for the purpose of the SFO. She is also deemed to be
interested in the 37,037,500 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Yung
Lai as mentioned in Note 4 above for the purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the directors
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any other
person (other than directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was interested in 5% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meeting of any other member
of the Group or any other substantial shareholders as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong
Kong (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which he/she is taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which
were required to be entered into the register required to be kept
by the Company, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Directors’ interests in securities of the Company

EERERTBRAERRKRG - HBERORE
BECERNAR

RZE-_—F+_-_A=+—8 ARAAEFNIT
PR AR R SEMTHEEE(TERES
K EAEARHIEXVE (BB EBIEE71E) ) Z MK
1~ HERGD REEEF B TAREES RAEK
BIEXVERET RESDEBMNE A RR MBI Z
IR E (BEREREES MBEKRINZSE
B RIER BB A MEEIOAR) + IREE
EREEIEDIEI2EBE RN AR R BETFER
ek BRIEGEM LR A 55,48 E5.67 KB E
RAT LB TR ROA R

EERFLQTEFHER

Percentage

of aggregate

Interest in interests to

Interests in underlying total issued

Long/ Capacity/ ordinary shares of Aggregate share capital

Name of Directors Short Position Nature of interests shares  share options interests  of the Company

RERE hAAT

REBRS izl BEIRALE

Bspg B/ %8 g/ BEER HhEE  RETHER BEE NEREESL

Mr. Hung Yung Lai Long Position Corporate interest 431,782,500 - 431,782,500 32.78%

ey e R (note 1)
(Hit1)

Long Position Beneficial owner 37,037,500 - 37,037,500 2.81%
e ESHAA

Mr. Hung Ying Long Position Beneficial owner 14,547,500 3,862,822 18,410,322 1.40%
2 yiad e ERHAA

Mr. Lin Xue Xin Long Position Beneficial owner 9,470,000 4,992,682 14,462,682 1.10%
HEHELE e ESHAA

Mr. Cui Jian Long Posttion Beneficial owner 32,755,000 - 32,755,000 2.49%
EREE e ERERA

Mr. Pao Ping Wing Long Position Beneficial owner - 307,606 307,606 0.02%
BRREE e ERHAA

Mr. Thomas Tam Long Position Beneficial owner - 307,606 307,606 0.02%
HEBTE e ERHAA

Mr. Lo King Man Long Position Beneficial owner - 307,606 307,606 0.02%
ERNEE e ERHAA
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Directors’ interests in the associated corporation
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ESNEREEES

Percentage of
total number
of shares of

Capacity/ Name of the Number of  the associated

Long/ Nature of associated ordinary corporations

Name of Director Short Position interests corporation shares held (note 2)

G AR EE B R D

BEH HMEWEDLL

BEEpE /%R S/ @R HEiEEE EEREA (Hi:t2)

Mr. Hung Yung Lai Long Position Beneficial owner  Goldcorp Industrial 1 50%
ReRIB AL e ERBEAA Limited

Notes: Htat -
1. The Shares were held by Goldcorp Industrial Limited. Mr. Hung Yung Lai 1. 2Z b A% 19 B Goldcorp Industrial Limited#$ & » BEEN1E 5
has 50% interest in Goldcorp Industrial Limited. A Goldcorp Industrial leltedfz&ﬁ%%ﬁ’ﬂ%m
2. The entire issued capital of Goldcorp Industrial Limited as of 31 December 2. Goldcorp Industrial Limitedi A —ZE = —F+=A =+—

2021 composed of 2 ordinary shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debenture
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
on 27 August 2001 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, and has been expired on
27 August 2011. Under the Scheme, the board of Directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company. The Scheme would be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date and
have come to its expiration. All other respects of the provisions
of the Scheme shall remain in full force and holders of all options
granted under the Scheme prior to such expiry shall be entitled
to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the terms of the
Scheme until expiry of the said options. As a result, a new share
option scheme which was approved on 28 February 2011 (the
“New Scheme”), take effect immediately after the expiry of the
Scheme. The principal terms of the New Scheme are same with
the Scheme.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 28 February
2011 (the “SGM”), the Scheme mandate limit was refreshed
so that the Company was authorised to grant share options
under the existing Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
81,184,000 shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the SGM.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 11 May
2016 (the “AGM”), the scheme mandate limit under the share
option scheme of the Company was refreshed again so that the
Company was authorised to grant additional share options for
subscription for a total of 86,443,000 shares under the refreshed
mandate limit, representing approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the AGM.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 11 May
2018 (the “AGM”), the scheme mandate limit under the share
option scheme of the Company was refreshed again so that the
Company was authorised to grant additional share options for
subscription for a total of 61,032,000 shares under the refreshed
mandate limit, representing approximately 6.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the AGM.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of options granted and to be granted to each Participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12
months period up to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue at the date of grant.
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The subscription shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion and shall not be less than the
higher of the closing price of the share on the date of grant of
the option and the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option.

Options granted shall be deemed to be accepted upon receipt
of the acceptance of offer letter from the grantee within 28 days
from the offer date, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period notified by the board to each
grantee but may not be exercised after the expiry of 10 years from
the date of grant.

On 9 October 2007 the Company granted 47,550,000 options
to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Scheme at
an exercise price of HK$0.368 per share to its employees of the
Group. Shares of the Company were at closing price of HK$0.36
immediately before the day on which options were granted.
Options granted on 9 October 2007 were expired during year
2017.

On 19 January 2010 the Company granted 20,900,000 options
to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Scheme
at an exercise price of HK$0.20 per share to its directors and
employees of the Group. Shares of the Company were at closing
price of HK$0.20 immediately before the day on which options
were granted. Options granted on 19 January 2010 were expired
during year 2020.

On 16 August 2010 the Company granted 8,990,000 options
to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Scheme at
an exercise price of HK$0.84 per share to its employees of the
Group. Shares of the Company were at closing price of HK$0.84
immediately before the day on which options were granted.
Options granted on 16 August 2010 were expired during year
2020.
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On 10 January 2011, the Company granted 65,000,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.730 per share to Mr.
Hung Yung Lai, Chairman of the Group. Shares of the Company
were at closing price of HK$0.730 immediately before the day on
which options were granted. The grant of share options to Mr.
Hung Yung Lai and the specific mandate to allot, issue and deal
with the shares of the Company upon conversion of the foregoing
share options were approved by the SGM held on 28 February
2011. Options granted on 10 January 2011 were expired during
year 2021.

On 13 January 2011, the Company granted 19,260,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.714 per share to its
employees of the Group. Shares of the Company were at closing
price of HK$0.690 immediately before the day on which options
were granted. The grant of share options to its employees of the
Company and the specific mandate to allot, issue and deal with
the shares of the Company upon conversion of the foregoing
share options were approved by the SGM held on 28 February
2011. Options granted on 13 January 2011 were expired during
year 2021.

On 24 June 2013, the Company granted 59,780,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.1122 per share to a
Director and its employees of the Group. Shares of the Company
were at closing price of HK$0.101 immediately before the day on
which options were granted.

On 15 May 2015, the Company granted 21,400,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.43 per share to a
Director and its employees of the Group. Shares of the Company
were at closing price of HK$0.43 immediately before the day on
which options were granted.

On 7 April 2017, the Company granted 86,440,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.182 per share to its
directors, employees and consultants of the Group. Shares of the
Company were at closing price of HK$0.182 immediately before
the day on which options were granted.
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The summary details of options granted are as follows:
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Number of Number of
share options Number of Number of Number of ~ share options
Name of directors, outstanding  share options  share options  share options  outstanding
continuous contract asat granted exercised lapsed as at
employees and Adjusted 1 January during during during 31 December
consultants Exercise period exercise price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
R=B=-% R=B=-%
-A-H +=R=t+-H
L i A€ FRERHE EREAR FREAR KT
BESHEERER i e BREHAE BREHE BREHE BREHE BREHE
HKS$
BT
Hung Yung Lai 28 February 2011 to 0.6170 76,901,500 - - (76,901,500) -
R 9 January 2021
“Z——F-A-tN\HE
—Z_-E-AhB
Lin Xue Xin 28 February 2011 1o 0.6035 816,339 - - (816,339) -
R 12 January 2021
“Z—E-AZtN\HE
2 -F-At+ZH
Continuous contract 28 February 2011 to 0.6035 18,723,960 - - (13,723,960) -
employees (other than 12 January 2021
directors) “E—FZAZTN\BE
RESDES(ESHIN 2 -F-At+ZH
Hung Ying 24 June 2013 1o 0.0948 47,324 - - - 47,324
it 23 June 2023
ZE-=F AZTEBEZE
2= A=t=H
Continuous contract 24 June 2013 to 0.0948 7,335,220 - - (591,550) 6,743,670
employees (other than 23 June 2023
directors) ZE-=F AZTEBEZE
RESNES(ESHIN ZEI=FRAZT=A
Hung Ying 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 2,247,890 - - - 2,247,890
it 14 May 2025
g s i =
ZERERATRA
FREM(RE)ROERAR
33 —eo—EH
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Number of Number of
share options Number of Number of Number of ~ share options
Name of directors, outstanding  share options  share options  share options  outstanding
continuous contract as at granted exercised lapsed asat
employees and Adjusted 1 January during during during 31 December
consultants Exercise period exercise price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
R-B=-F R-B=-%
B8 t=A=t-8
T ik X FRERE EREAE  FREAN KTE
BEANESRER i e BREHA BREHE BREHE BhRE A BREHE
HK$
BT
Lin Xue Xin 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 3,549,300 - - - 3,549,300
HER 14 May 2025
“Z-1FRATREZE
“ECRFRATEA
Continuous contract 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 16,859,175 - - (7,512,685) 9,346,490
employees (other than 14 May 2025
directors) “Z-nFRA+RAZR
REANEE(EERI) “ECRFRATEA
Hung Ying 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 1,567,608 - - - 1,567,608
e 6 April 2027
“E—tFNALREE
ZE-+EMARA
Lin Xue Xin 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 1,443,382 - - - 1,443,382
WEH 6 April 2027
“E-+FMAtRE
ZE-+EMARA
Pao Ping Wing 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 307,606 - - - 307,606
LS 6 April 2027
“E—tFNAtAEE
ZE-+EMARA
Thomas Tam 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 307,606 - - - 307,606
HEUE 6 April 2027
“E—+FNAtAEE
ZE-+EMARA
Lo King Man 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 307,606 - - - 307,606
ERY 6 April 2027
“E—+FMAtREE
ZE-+EMARA
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Number of Number of
share options Number of Number of Number of  share options
Name of directors, outstanding  share options  share options  share options  outstanding
continuous contract as at granted exercised lapsed asat
employees and Adjusted 1 January during during during 31 December
consultants Exercise period exercise price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
R=B=-F R-B=-%
B8 t=A=1-8
T ik *iE  ERERH ERETE  FREAN KTE
BEGHRERER i e BREHA BREHE BREHE BhREsE BREHE
HK$
BT
Continuous contract 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 30,216,374 - - (12919452 17,296,922
employees (other than 6 April 2027
directors) “ZT-rFNAtAZE
REANEE(EERI) ZEZtENARA
Consultants 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 42,644,839 - - (10,221,984) 32,422,855
Bl 6 April 2027
“Z-rHMNALAE
ZTEEMARA
198,275,729 - - (122,687,470 75,588,259

The exercise price for the options granted and number of shares
in respect of options granted were adjusted to reflect the impact
of the rights issue during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interest and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures” below and the share option
scheme disclosures in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the company
granted to any director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or the Company’s subsidiary or holding
company or a subsidiary of the Company’s holding company or a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.
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MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS

Save for the directors, management shareholders and substantial
shareholders as herein disclosed, the Directors are not aware
of any persons who as at 31 December 2021 were entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting
power at general meetings of the Company and who were able,
as a practical matter, to direct or influence the management of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the directors, management shareholders or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates,
as defined in the GEM Listing Rules, has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group or has any other conflict of interests
with the Group during year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on page 40 to page 69
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Hung Yung Lai (Chairman)

Hung Ying (Vice Chairman)

Lin Xue Xin (Chief Executive Officer)
Cui Jian

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pao Ping Wing
Thomas Tam
Lo King Man

Pursuant to Claus 87 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Hung Yung Lai
and Mr. Thomas Tam shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All of the
above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. Pao Ping Wing, Mr. Thomas Tam and Mr. Lo King
Man and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 22
of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the directors and chief executive of
the Company and the five highest paid employees of the Group
are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company or a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements. During year 2021, renewed
tenancy agreement was entered into between the Company as
tenant and related company, Sing Lee Pharmaceutical Import &
Export Co., Limited, as landlord. The transactions contemplated
under the renewed tenancy agreements constitute continuing
connected transactions (CCTs) of the Group pursuant to GEM
Listing Rule 20.29. The CCTs are exempted from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirement pursuant to GEM Listing Rule 20.74.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which he
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for legal actions brought against the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the coverage is reviewed
annually.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Hung Yung Lai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving
high corporate governance standards to enhance corporate
performance, transparency and accountability, earning the
confidence of shareholders and the public. The Board strives
to adhere to the principles of corporate governance and adopt
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and
commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all shareholders.

The Company complied with the code provisions in Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report which set out in Appendix 15 in the GEM Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure
its continuous compliance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the twelve months ended
31 December 2021 as set out in GEM Listing Rules 5.48 to 5.67.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all the Directors and
the Company was not aware of any noncompliance with the
required standard of dealings regarding the securities transactions
by Directors.

Specific employees who are likely to be possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with the same Code of Conduct. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company comprises:
Executive Directors Hung Yung Lai (Chairman)
Hung Ying (Vice Chairman)
Lin Xue Xin (Chief Executive Officer)

Cui Jian
Independent Pao Ping Wing
Non-executive Thomas Tam
Directors Lo King Man

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective oversight over the
management. The board members are fully committed to their
roles and have acted in good faith to maximise the shareholders’
value in the long run, and have aligned the Group’s goals and
directions with the prevailing economic and market conditions.
Daily operations and administration are delegated to the
management.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group at each period end and of the
results and cash flows for that period. In preparing these financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for providing
with Board papers and related materials, for ensuring that all
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations
are followed, and for reporting to the Chairman on governance
matters. All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary. The Company secretary
keeps minutes of all meetings which are available for inspection at
any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors. The
Company Secretary also plays an essential role in the relationship
between the Company and its shareholders, including assisting
the Board in discharging its obligations to shareholders pursuant
to the Listing Rules.

In order to assist the Directors to carry out their duties, the Board
has set out terms of reference, enabling the Directors to seek
independent professional advice upon reasonable request under
appropriate circumstances and the fees are payable by the
Company.
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Independent non-executive directors were appointed for a period
of two years commencing from their employment dates.

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive directors representing more than one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers such directors to be
independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Thomas Tam (“Mr. Tam”) will retire by rotation as Independent
non-executive director (“INED”) at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election. Mr. Tam has served
on the Board over 9 years. Being long-serving Director, he
has developed an in-depth understanding of the Company’s
operations and business, and has expressed objective views and
given independent guidance to the Company, and bring fresh
perspectives to the board over the years. There is no empirical
evidence that the long services of Mr. Tam would impair his
independent judgements. After identifying potential INEDs and
evaluated by the board, Mr. Tam would still be able to bring fresh
perspectives to the board. The Board is satisfied that Mr. Tam will
continue to have the required character and experience to fulfill
the role of an INED and considers that the re-election of Mr. Tam
as an INED at the forthcoming AGM s in the best interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

With the various experience of both the executive directors
and the non-executive directors and the nature of the Group’s
business, the Board considered that the directors have a balance
of skills and experience for the business of the Group.

The Company has arranged for Directors’ Liability Insurance to
indemnify its Directors against potential liabilities incurred by them
in discharging their duties. The increase coverage for the Directors
is reviewed on an annual basis. Throughout the year, no claim
had been made against the Directors of the Company.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will evaluate the independence of all
independent non-executive directors each year and make sure
that they comply with the independence requirement of the Listing
Rules. All members of the Board are not related to one another in
all aspects, including finance, family and business.
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of 2-3 years. Such term is subject to his
re-appointment by the Company at an AGM upon retirement.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board, (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the Board,
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of
the Company and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting
and (i) as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the next
AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
In additions, in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, one
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election by shareholders at each annual general meeting of the
Company.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The Group
also provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh
the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group continuously
updates Directors on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are
issued to Directors and senior management where appropriate, to
ensure awareness of best corporate governance practices.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

RZE-—F+_A=+—HFE  EFLXHEMNUT

s3] -

Type of Trainings

IR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Yung Lai ARENIE ST A B
Bz
Mr. Hung Ying RS- A B
HZ
Mr. Lin Xue Xin MEFEE A B
Bz
Mr. Cui Jian BEREE A B
Bz
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUEHITES
Mr. Pao Ping Wing e A B
Bz
Mr. Thomas Tam HEELE A B
Bz
Mr. Lo King Man ESENEE A B
Bz
A Study corporate governance issue relating to directors’ duties B HREARESBE 2 DXEEAEE
B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy, general 7, : FREAELE —REBIEFHESIRE - IRk

business or directors’ duties etc.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
not be performed by the same individual. To ensure a balance of
power and authority, for the current reporting year, the Chairman
of the Board of the Company is Mr. Hung Yung Lai , the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Lin Xue Xin. Mr. Hung
Yung Lai and Mr. Lin Xue Xin are also Executive Directors of the
Company.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective
running of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the management of the
day-to-day operations and the implementation of the approved
strategies of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES & CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the audit and risk management committees, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
have been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are posted on the GEM’s website www.hkgem.com and
the Company’s website at www.singlee.com.cn. All the Board
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting
meetings of Board committees follow in line with, so far as
practicable, those of the Board meetings.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Code which included developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the
code provision in the Code and disclosures in this report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established in November 2005.
The chairman of the committee is Mr. Pao Ping Wing, and other
members include Mr. Hung Yung Lai, Mr. Thomas Tam and Mr.
Lo King Man. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
committee which have been revised effective on 10 May 2019
to comply with the new requirements set out in the revised code
provisions are posted on the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The remuneration committee has been charged with the
responsibility of making recommendations to the Board on
appropriated policy and structures for all aspects of all Directors
and senior management remuneration. The remuneration
committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

During the Year, the remuneration committee has considered
and reviewed the remuneration packages and emoluments of
Directors and senior management and consider that are fair and
reasonable.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established in March 2012.
The chairman of the committee is Mr. Hung Yung Lai and other
members include Mr. Pao Ping Wing, Mr. Thomas Tam and Mr.
Lo King Man. The written terms of reference of the nomination
committee which have been made effective on 10 May 2019 to
comply with the new requirements set out in the revised code
provisions are posted on the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The duties of the nomination committee are mainly to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify suitable
candidates for appointment as directors; make recommendations
to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of an succession
planning for directors; assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors; formulate and review the Board Diversity
Policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.

During the Year, the nomination committee considered the past
performance, qualification, general market conditions and the
Company'’s articles of association in selecting and recommending
candidates of directorship. The nomination committee discussed
and reviewed the retirement and re-election of Directors.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The audit and risk management committee was established in
August 2001. The chairman of the audit and risk management
committee is Mr. Pao Ping Wing and other members include Mr.
Thomas Tam and Mr. Lo King Man, all of them are independent
non-executive directors. The written terms of reference of the
audit and risk management committee which have been revised
effective on 10 May 2019 to comply with the new requirement set
out in the revised code provision are posted on the GEM website
and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the audit and risk management committee
are mainly to review the financial information, oversight of
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems, audit plan and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.
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The Company has complied with Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules in that at least one of the members of the audit and risk
management committee (which must comprise a minimum
of three members and must be chaired by an Independent
non-executive director) is an independent non-executive director
who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting related financial management expertise.

Review of financial results

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed the 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements. Based
on this review and discussions with management, the audit and
risk management committee was satisfied that the Consolidated
Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards and fairly present the Group’s financial
position and results for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
audit and risk management committee therefore recommended
the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 be approved by the Board.

Review of risk management and internal control systems

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures
regarding internal control systems (including financial, operational,
[T, risk management, information security, legal, compliance and
those controls designed to detect material fraud) by reviewing the
work of the Internal audit department and regular reports from
management including those on risk management, regulatory
compliance and legal matters.

The audit and risk management committee reviewed and
concurred with the management’s confirmation that for the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems were effective with reference to
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) principles. The management’s confirmation was endorsed
by the audit and risk management committee and submitted to
the Board.

Review of accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and internal
audit functions.
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SREAEE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEEREZTILBE

The Company has had policy of diversity in board appointments ~ ANAF—EBTZ /LR » MBERIRFBEESH
as reflected in the current composition of the Board which is  #2& < A TEIM - EE S ERERNLE XSS
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms & && A HE @ HAZ TS ¢

of nationality, professional background and experience, as shown

in the following illustrations:

A Role of directors A EEAE
Executive Directors 4 HITES . 4
Independent Non-Executive Directors 3 B EMITES 3

I Executive Directors
WITEF
Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUFRITES

B Nationality B EiE =3

Hong Kong, China 5 P EIES 5
China 2 a3 2

B Hong Kong, China
PEIEE
China
h
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Professional background

Business

Computer and information technology

Human settlements planning and development
Accounting and auditing

Education and cultural development
Computer science and technology

Age

45-54
55-64
65-74
75-84
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We believe that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organisational changes and less likely to suffer from group
thinking. We recognise that board diversity is an essential element
contributing to the sustainable development of the Company. The
objectives of this Policy are, with the support of our shareholders,
to have a Board which:

a) is characterised by a broad range of views arising from
different experiences when discussing business;

b) facilitates the making of informed and critical decisions;
and
c) has sustainable development as its core value,

and thus promotes the interests of all our stakeholders,
particularly the long-term interests of our shareholders, fairly and
effectively.

For the purpose of this Policy, we considers the concept of
diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such
as professional experiences, business perspectives, skills,
knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity and length of service. The achievement of these
objectives is measurable on an objective review by shareholders of
the overall composition of the Board, the diversity of background
and experience of individual directors and the effectiveness of the
Board in promoting shareholders’ interests.

In order for shareholders to judge for themselves whether the
Board as constituted is a reflection of diversity, or a gradual
move to increased diversity, on a scale and at a speed which
they support, we shall continue to provide sufficient information
to shareholders about the size, qualifications, characteristics etc.
of each individual Board member and therefore, the Board as a
whole.

The nomination committee has been charged with the review of
the Board Diversity Policy on a periodic basis. The nomination
committee believes that the approach of review of the Policy may
take the form of an analysis of the Board in the different aspects
of diversity as set out above having regard to the sustainable
development of the Company, supplemented with shareholders’
feedback on the diversity of the Board and its overall effectiveness
in promoting shareholders’ interests.
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit and Risk Management Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Annual
General Meeting and Special General Meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the following table:

EEERKRE

EEENEFZRESE;

REENEBE T —F+-_A=1t—HILFEH
FEFE BEZLAREELZES FWHZEE -
REEZE®  BRRBEFAGREREFIASEH
BRI T

Audit
and Risk Annual Special
Management Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
ERRER
Directors Bz Ezg EEZEE yMzEg REZEE RFBEFAE REWAIAE
Number of meetings held BHRETRY 5 5 1 1 1 1
Number of meetings attended/ &t E Y,/
Number of meetings held LRGN
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Yung Lai ERERE 5/5 - 1 11 1N 17
Mr. Hung Ying RERE 5/5 - - - 0/1 0/1
Mr. Lin Xue Xin HEH A 5/5 - - - 0 0
Mr. Cui Jian EREE 5/5 - - - 0/1 0/1
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Pao Ping Wing BREREE 5/5 5/5 1 11 1N 17
Mr. Thomas Tam HEABLL 5/5 5/5 111 1A 17 17
Mr. Lo King Man ERXEE 5/5 4/5 1 11 1 17
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the independent auditor to the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately as follows:

BYLBETHE

BN REREBEE—T - —F+=-A=1+—H1t
FEHERARRREAZE L IR BRS 2 BA
ez T

2021 2020

—B=-—-F —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

Type of services BRASHE R ARET T AREFIT
Audit services 2R 1,324 1,115
Non-audit services (Note) AL BURTS (H177) 400 -
Total #Et 1,724 1,115
Note:  Non-audit services relate to the non-audit assurance services for the — Mat ©  FEEBRB P REAEE L E —RHEQ RN FHIEMH

Group’s disposal of a subsidiary.

DIRECTORS’ AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the company and its subsidiaries, in accordance
with accounting principle generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG-
related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, maintaining sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems (including those for ESG-related risks)
and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets. To this end, management
continues to allocate resources for internal control and risk
management systems compatible with the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control — Integrated Framework 2013 principles to
provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management

At the Group, risk is defined as a potential action, event or
circumstance that could impact the Company’s ability, favorably

or unfavorably, to meet its strategic goals.

Risk is inherent in the Group’s business and the markets in which
it operates. The aim is to identify risks and then manage them so
that they can be understood, reduced, mitigated, transferred or
avoided. This demands a proactive approach to risk management

-4
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and an effective group-wide risk management framework.

Risk governance structure

The Group’s risk governance structure is based on a “Three Lines
of Defence” model, with oversight and directions from the Board

and Audit and Risk Management Committee.
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The Management B2 E
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Operational Management
and Internal Controls
EEEER AR

(Risk Ownership)
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Risk Management
Functions
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(Risk Control)
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AN " - 2N
TEREBRBE
Roles Functions At Hiag
The Board o Has overall responsibility for the risk - o HEBEERNHNERZRE
management and internal control systems. BEF-

o Oversees the actions of the Management o EEEEENRREERRER
and monitors the overall effectiveness of the A E R BRI -
risk management system and internal control
function.

o Oversees and reviews processes and controls o EELRESEEL2ERRER
for strategic and operational risk and monitors RIS - AR BBEZRE
the effectiveness of the established controls BEEZ B RERIAEGIE
through the Audit and Risk Management HERB R o
Committee.

Audit and Risk o Supports the Board in monitoring the ERRERER o BOESTEREBEERLN
Management performance of the risk management system ZEg FEREERRBRAMEER
Committee and key risks and internal control systems. e

e Reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function.

e Reviews risks raised during annual risk
registration exercise, and other risks and
concerns.

e Approves Company'’s risk tolerance.

¢ FEvaluate and determine the nature and extent
of the risks the Board is ready to endorse for
the Group to take in pursuing the delivery of
the Group’s strategic objectives.

e Ensure that an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems is
established and maintained by the Group.

e Qversee the Management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

e Qversee the Management in their risk
mitigation efforts.
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policies.

e Carries out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness

AN " F--= V2N
TEERRE
Roles Functions At Bae
Internal Audit o Independent investigations regarding certain WHEZ o BETEHTARERAZET
allegations of fraud and violations of the BERAREMARBRETE
Group’s Code of Conduct and other company VHE -

o HAKEREREERABER
ZORTRANB LT R

e Designs, implements and reviews the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.

e Communicate and assess the Group’s risk
profile and material risks at the Group level.

e Track progress of mitigation plans of material
risks and report on detailed examinations of
specific risks as required.

e Qversee business units as well as group risk
and the control activities relevant to respective
functions.

e Ensure that a review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted at least annually
and provide such confirmation to the Board
through the Audit and Risk Management
Committee.

of the Group’s risk management and internal BLAHE o
control systems.

The Management o Provide leadership and guidance for the EHEE o FLEREE R BEE T ERE
balance of risk and return. BERI|E -

o R ERRERASENAR
ERRABERRS -

o RARERMERATIMEARR
ETRBRAME -

o REMETEARBSFETEME
B UREZERETRBF

AmBERER
o EEXBEN - FERR - UK
BEBENrIER ETEE -

o BRESEFRH-AERER
RARERAS mm W358
EVREREEZEENERS
R AR -

The Management, which co-ordinates enterprise risk management
activities and reviews significant aspects of risk management for
the Group, reports to the Audit and Risk Management Committee
at each regularly scheduled meeting, including amongst other
things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate
mitigation and/or transfer of identified risks. The operating units of
the Group, as risk owners, identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor
their own risks, and report such risk management activities to the
Management on a regularly basis. The Management assesses
and presents regular reports to Audit and Risk Management
Committee at each regularly scheduled meeting.
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The Management and employees have evaluated control
environment and conducted risk assessments of businesses and
processes, both at the entity level and the various processes/
transactions levels. We have documented those processes which
are critical to the Group’s performance. Within this exercise, key
risks have been identified, along with the controls required to
mitigate those risks, after which, such key risks and controls are
continually reviewed and updated on an annual basis. High-risk
key controls are tested annually by our management and internal
audit. Based on the results of those tests, process owners
are able to represent to Senior Management that their internal
controls are working as intended or that necessary corrections
have been made where control weaknesses have been found.
Internal auditors report to Audit and Risk Management Committee
that controls have been working properly or have been modified as
required.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls
undertaken within the Group, the external auditor also assessed
the adequacy and effectiveness of certain key risk management
and internal controls as part of their statutory audits. Where
appropriate, the external auditor’s recommendations are adopted
and enhancements to the risk management and internal controls
will be made.

The Group’s risk management objectives

° At a strategic level, the Group focuses on the identification
and management of material risks at the Group, business
and functional levels, in order to better equip itself to
pursue the Group’s strategic and business objectives.

° At an operational level, the Group aims to identify,
assess, evaluate and mitigate operational hazards and
risks in order to create a safe, healthy, efficient and
environmentally-friendly workplace for its employees
whilst ensuring products and services provided safety and
health, minimising environmental impact, and securing
asset integrity.
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The Group’s risk appetite and risk profiling criteria

The Group’s risk appetite represents the amount of risk the Group
is willing to undertake in pursuit of its strategic and business
objectives. In line with expectations of its stakeholders, the Group
will only take reasonable risks that (a) fit its strategy and capability,
(b) can be understood and managed, and (c) do not expose the
Group to:

SREAEE

F 5 B 49 [ R F 58 ) SR B P AL 2E R

AEERERAZENRIERESERAS RIEHM
EBEEREAENRRIEER - BEEREBAEBA
THHIZE - ARER LA S ERRLAEQN S
KERBEAMBES ~ O)REWTEDRBMEE - AR
T E<EEBATIIHR :

. material financial loss; . BBARUBIEK

. incidents affecting safety and health of employees; . FERETRERERENEM
. material breach of regulations; . EREE B REH

. damage of the Group’s reputation and brand name; . BESENBENDE

o business/supply interruption; and . BB HERE R

. severe environmental incidents. . BREBIRIBEW o

Based on the above, the Group has established its risk monitoring
in the form of a risk assessment matrix to help rank risks and
prioritise risk management efforts at the Group level. Business
units are required to adopt the same risk matrix structure in order
to establish their own risk profiling, determine consequence and
likelihood of identified risks with reference to their own materiality
and circumstances as well as establishing risk mitigation
strategies.

Inherent risk assessment matrix

RIE AR - NS B I 7E [ A A R FeE DAE T TR
RESRMFE  URKEE@HEREE TIBET
BRGEF - R EREEGEMRARRNRRRE
PRI R BB A S A EIOR - WARRE #5I
FERfzEE R M RIS MEE HRR M AR - fem
AR A AR RS o

BB R

Likelihood Rating

BAETREMER
1. Highly 2. Not 4. Strong
Impact Rating unlikely expected 3. Sometimes possibility 5. Very likely
BRER =¥ 2] TARTAEE ATRE WA HBUEE
5. Critical Moderate High High Very high Very high
BRI AR [ f SIS =R R e = R
4. Major Moderate Moderate High High Very high
BX R o BB =R mEERR
3. Moderate Low Moderate Moderate High High
% {ERBR AR PER BEK BER
2. Minor Low Low Low Moderate Moderate
L {iWERC K2\ {liWEy R & B Hh [
1. Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low
TRER (KRR EES (R EEBR EEB

SRR () RO BRAT
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Risk management process

BREEEF

The following diagram illustrates the key processes used by the  TEIFAIAREBBIEER « TR AEEAEFS A
Group to identify, evaluate and manage the Group’s significant &8+ Z3B7L

risks:
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Risk treatment
RBREE

The management establishes common risk language and risk assessment criteria for the
Group.

Business units identify the risks which may potentially impact the achievement of their
business objectives, and analyze and evaluate the significance of such risk.

Business units assess the adequacy of existing controls, determine and implement
treatment plans where risk mitigants are actionable.

Business units monitor risk mitigating activities.

The management tracks the progress of risk mitigating activities; reports the consolidated
view of risks regularly to audit and risk management committee; and shares risk knowledge
across business units to enhance the risk management standard of the Group. Group
internal audit reports regularly to the Board and/or audit and risk management committee
to provide independent assurance on the effectiveness of risk management function.

EIE B T A S B A R AR 1T 5 S BB R AR R
EBEHRTTRE RS EEREB BRNRER - LR RIZZERRNERN -

3 EBEMAARTEERERR  REREEADRERSR A EETE o

45 EBBNERFERBNIE - EREBESRHKRR TIEAEE  EHREZ AR
BEEeERENERNGAER BB Fﬂ%i%“iu““ﬂﬁﬂuﬁkl«/ﬁkeﬂ$’§§ﬂ&
BIKF - FEABBAETCHAESTER IELXLEREEZESER  SEaERA
BE R T AR RE -

. Is integrated into business and decision-making processes ~ ® MASEEBFORARRIET - BIEREST
including strategy formulation, business planning, capital T EBHE Bl BERE KN
allocation, investment decisions, internal control and day- SR AR EE o
to-day operations management.

. Involves establishing the context, identifying risks, BIEwLEE - ZHARR - EBoTHEE
assessing their consequences and likelihood, evaluating BEREELIE®AEMEE DR RBRKTFERT
risk level, control gaps and priorities, and developing - ZERFEEEHEHTE @ WHETE
control and mitigation plans. This is a continuous process RBEFE » ARBIFTESIEMAT 512 - & (@
with periodic monitoring and review in place. It is also an BENBEDETHER LR - RSt
interactive process with stakeholder communication and EEEBEBEATERNZRNTBIBIE

consultation.

. The Group adopts an integrated bottom-up and top-  ® REBRBBA T ERB LT THEZEER

down risk review process to enable (a) comprehensive SR WE@Q2EHNEERNAE
identification and prioritisation of all material risks EAREE - WH#ETEXER - O)FERR
throughout the Group, (b) escalation of material risks at % FREEE E’Jﬁﬁi&ﬂﬂ COEERE
the right managerial level, (c) effective risk dialogue among EJEI_L SETBRUER - W)EEEERR
the management team, and (d) proper oversight of risk FEETAE -

mitigation efforts.
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Bottom-up process:

Business units and group functions are required to
submit their material risks identified through their
risk management process to the management.

The management, through aggregation, filtering
and prioritising processes as well as consultation
process, compile a Group Risk Management
Report. The senior management reviews and
scrutinises the material risks and ensures the
appropriate controls and mitigation measures are
in place or in progress.

Following review by the senior management, Group
Risk Management Report is submitted to the audit
and risk management committee with a summary
of the material risks circulated to the Board.

Top-down process:

Emerging risks and/or overarching strategic
risks, which might have a material impact on the
Group over a longer timeframe, are monitored and
discussed on a regular basis by the management.

The management facilitates ongoing emerging risk
review and management discussion by compiling
relevant information from both internal and external
sources. Overarching strategic risks are reviewed
and discussed during the annual business planning
process. Emerging risks that are identified and
considered material are further assessed and
monitored by relevant business units or group
functions.

Internal control is an integral part of enterprise
risk management. The Group’s enterprise risk
management framework encompasses internal
control, forming a more robust conceptualization
and tool for management. Risk management is
closely linked to the Group’s Integrated Framework
of Internal Control, key controls are subject to
testing in order to assess their effectiveness.

In the annual business planning process, business
units are required to identify all material risks
that may impact their achievement of business
objectives. Identified risks are evaluated based
on the same set of risk profiling criteria as the risk
review process. Plans to mitigate the identified
risks are developed for implementation and budget
puUrposes.
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Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to oversee the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. This is
achieved through a defined management structure with specified
limits of authority and defined control responsibility designed to:

° Achieve business objectives and safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition;

° Ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication; and

° Ensure compliance with the relevant legislation and
regulations.

Internal control framework

The Company has in place an integrated framework of internal
controls which continues to be consistent with Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) which comprises
17 principles on effective internal controls as illustrated below:

RERESEE

EEemAEEEREEASENIEERERGNEA
M - TisE A MH N ERE I 2 mB A A AR
BLARSEEE TN ERRBERN - §E

. BEIRE BIZ MBI L& E R IR E B
HEE

. ERZEWRTFECHE - RAMAENK
MR A EMMEER - K

. FERE ST B RADI SOER ©

R EBEEFEHESR

N & # 17 LA Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
#) Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
(KAMBEE—GFEER(ZT—=5F))) REXRHER
BARERREEIRIRRE - BRAEREMAT17THAER
BRAEEERA -

appropriate authorities and responsibilities in
the pursuit of objectives

o Demonstrates a commitment to attract,
develop, and retain competent individuals in
alignment with objectives

e Holds individuals accountable for their internal
control responsibilities in the pursuit of
objectives

5 Components 17 Principles 5KEZ 17 ERA
Control environment: o Demonstrates a commitment to integrity and PERIE - o BERUMEANEEENAGH
ethical values
The internal EIREEED
organizational The Board demonstrates independence from EfRT HlE |« EFEBUNEERE TEER
Environment driven management and exercises oversight of the LEEEEED EDESE A G B R A
by the Management development and performance of internal H) A B AR A
operating philosophy, control R
risk appetite,
integrity, and ethical | ¢  The management establishes, with board . E%%@%E‘ CEEERVA
values. oversight, structures, reporting lines, and SR EREAREEMKE

E@E%’%ﬁ P NEREENEEEN

o BRYRS  BENREALN
Ak NEASENEERN

¢ BEXBNEINFREIENE
EmtEEMBED  FRAC
ERBEETANET
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AN\ A 5555 0
TEEBRBRE
5 Components 17 Principles 5REZ 17TERR
Risk assessment: o Specifies objectives with sufficient clarity to BT - o EBME AR - B D B RT

Risks are identified and

enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives

PR o T

hEHE fE Rk

the likely impact on HEALA
the organization is o Identifies risks to the achievement of its g o o BRARSNTERRERENRS
assessed. objectives across the entity and analyses risks as AXHER  WALIERETE
a basis for determining how the risks should be A E IR A e AR
managed
o Considers the potential for fraud in assessing o HREETRNEENERRE
risks to the achievement of objectives ERETNERTR
o |dentifies and assesses changes that could o BRI ASEE R
significantly impact the system of internal control ERERFENSE
Control activities: o Selects and develops control activities that PEES) o ERRBIGTERER  SERE
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the 82 B R E AR KT
Policies and procedures achievement of objectives to acceptable levels EHBERER
are Implemented to TR A a4
ensure organizational | ¢ Selects and develops general control activities BEERRAER | » AREEREERT—RNE
objectives and risk- over technology to support the achievement of fES) o R SREENEERN
mitigation activities objectives
are effectively
executed. o Deploys control activities through policies that o EBEIFTERAROBE - LT
establish what is expected and procedures that URFC BREEGUDES
put policies into action 17 BEFEHEETEHE
Information and o Obtains or generates and uses relevant, quality ERNAR: o WBSEE  UEFEREEREE
Communication: information to support the functioning of internal BB - SIS REP IR T AY
control NRAFARES
Relevant information ERBES 2
is communicated o Internally communicates information, including BEEREE . | o REEANNBEIFABERE
in an acceptable objectives and responsibilities for internal (EFZRMER - AERDEEY
format and timely control, necessary to support the functioning of BMAMET

fashion to enable the
organization to meet
its objectives.

internal control

e Communicates with external parties regarding
matters affecting the functioning of internal
control

o EAAHFENBERERNE
HETAR
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AN " - 2N
TEERHE
5 Components 17 Principles 5KEZ 17TERR
Monitoring: o Selects, develops, and performs ongoing and/ BEPEE) - o BE HBUERBER /LB
or separate evaluations to ascertain whether the UEEHE  BREABEANER
The internal control components of internal control are present and SRS EAGHUEEER
process is continually functioning iz« FEEE
monitored. BRMERED
Modifications are o Evaluates and communicates internal control BIE - ABE o EREABERORE - UE

made to improve
internal control
activities as a result
of the monitoring
Process.

deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties
responsible for taking corrective action, including
senior management and the board of directors,
as appropriate

AREEED B E A B R LR A0 AR R
AL BEREEEABNES

g(mEa ) rnER

Within this comprehensive internal control framework,
management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal controls. Other teams
such as Finance, Legal, and Human Resources provide assistance
and expertise to management to assist it in undertaking its
responsibilities. The Board and its audit and risk management
committee oversee the actions of management and monitor the
effectiveness of the established controls, assisted by assurance
provided by the internal auditors.

Control standards, checks and balances

Built into the Group’s system are checks and balances. In
addition, as an integral part of our internal control systems, well
defined policies and procedures are properly documented and
communicated. The corporate policies form the basis of all the
Group’s major guidelines and procedures and set forth the control
standards required for the functioning of the Group’s business
entities. The policies address legal, regulatory, and operational
topics, including, for example, intellectual property, data privacy,
employee health and safety, delegation of authority, information
security, and business continuity.

Our internal control systems are based on clear stewardship
responsibilities, authorities and accountability and the systems
cover every activity and transaction of our Group. We emphasise
to our employees that everyone, no matter where he or she
stands in the corporate hierarchy, is an important part of our
internal control systems and we expect them to contribute to that
system.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
Annual Report 2021 62

EZEEAMEZERAN  EEERAERIAERE
e - ETTRBREHE RRET - BT R AR
B o B ARRANERSEMERZSEEER
THETRHB REEHNE - ERIZEENH 7
BT BEEEMEERIEAREEZESRAEE
EIRENITE M EIEC B AE IR

ERBEERHGHE

AEBNEZRR GBS HIEHS - thid - REREE
R A SRR —IRE B R B ) B EHERA
BRF - XTARM  REFER - KERRBEEA
SEMATENHAREFOER  YHRETAEE
MEBERLDEMTIIEHIRE - BEBRREZL
B ORRNEERRE  BRMAMBMERE - BUER
o BIRENZE &%  EEL2NEKEE
o

AEBNAEZERFRENEMOEERE - &
BMEENE - REAREMARHMNRZS - HfiA
BT TwBisE S8 THIEREEE
EFMEE IR - MAFHER -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Additionally, the Group has a strong corporate culture based on
good business ethics and accountability. The Code of Conduct,
which applies to all employees, forms the basis of the Group’s
commitment to conducting all business with uncompromising
integrity and ethical behavior. The Code also helps employees
determine when to ask for advice, and how to obtain it. All
employees are required to comply with the Code. The Group
regards any violation of the Code as a serious matter and is
committed to investigating all reported concerns. Furthermore,
in keeping with best practices, the Group has developed and
implemented an Anti-Corruption Policy which reinforces the
Code and provides additional specific guidance regarding
compliance with rules and laws related to corruption. In addition
to setting out guidelines, principles and values, we recognise
that an environment where employees feel free to bring problems
to management is also necessary to make our internal control
systems effective. Our Whistleblowing Policy makes it clear that all
reports to management will be handled confidentially to the fullest
extent possible under the circumstances.

This comprehensive internal controls framework established by
the Group covers all activities and transactions. Management
performs periodic enterprise wide risk assessments and
continuously monitors and reports progress of action plans to
address these key risks. Management also assesses business
risks when formulating corporate strategies, and tracks and
reports on the implementation of strategic initiatives, business
plans, budgets and financial results regularly to the Board.

To assist the audit and risk management committee in its
oversight and monitoring activities, the Group maintains an
independent internal audit function. Internal audit department, with
its function independent of the Group’s business operations, plays
an important role in monitoring the Group’s internal governance.
Internal audit provides objective assurance to the audit and risk
management committee that the system of internal controls is
effective and operating as intended.
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Key control procedures

(0 Establishing a structure with defined authority and proper

(i)

(i)

segregation of duties

A clear organisational structure with defined lines of
responsibility to facilitate systematic delegation of
authority.

Written policies, procedures and guidelines with
defined limits of delegated authority to facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.

Monitoring the strategic plan and performance

Business units carry out their respective business
operating plans as laid down in the strategic plan
in accordance with the adopted policies and
procedures.

An annual budget with financial targets provides
the foundation for the allocation of resources in
accordance with prioritised business opportunities.

Variance analyses help identify deficiencies and
enables timely remedial actions to be taken.

Designing an effective accounting and information system

A comprehensive accounting system for providing
financial and operational performance indicators
to facilitate problem identification, and to ensure
complete, relevant and accurate financial
information for timely reporting and disclosure
purpose.

An information system for identifying, capturing
and communicating pertinent information to enable
employees to carry out their responsibilities.

Regular reviews for ensuring proper and legitimate
dissemination of financial information.
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Handling and dissemination of inside information

- The Group regularly review inside information’s
policy and procedures and make recommendations
on a amendments there to, if necessary, in order
to ensure their effectiveness in making accurate,
balanced and timely disclosure of information
in accordance with disclosure obligations in the
changing regulatory environment.

Encouraging reporting on serious concern about
malpractice

- The Group operates a Whistleblowing Policy which
enables employees to raise concerns about any
malpractice, impropriety or fraud relating to internal
controls and other matters confidentially, without
fear of reprisal or victimization.

- Under the Group Whistleblowing Policy, audit and
risk management committee are responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of the actions taken in
response to disclosures made under the policy by
employees.

- Other stakeholders, such as customers and
suppliers, can also raise concerns about any
improprieties or potential improprieties of the
Group.

Ensuring controls and reviews of IT application systems as
well as principal operations

- Various controls and independent reviews are in
place to uphold the integrity, reliability, availability,
security and stability of the Group’s IT application
systems.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

Regarding the disclosure of inside information and internal control
measures, the Company understands its duties under the Listing
Rules and SFO, and adheres to the important principle of timely
publication of the inside information. The Company abides by
the “Guide on disclosure of inside information” published by
the Securities and Futures Commission, and has developed
a complete system of internal procedures and internal control
measures for processing and publication of information in order to
ensure the timely, accurate and appropriate disclosure of relevant
information to the shareholders and regulatory authorities.

The Group takes all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement. In this respect, the Management ensures
that appropriate systems and procedures are put in place and
reviewed periodically to enable the Group to comply with the
disclosure requirements. The management also regularly oversees
the proper implementation and functioning of the mechanisms
and ensures that any material deficiencies are detected and
resolved in a timely manner.

Measures include but are not limited to the following:

(a) Establish controls for monitoring business and corporate
developments and events so that any potential inside
information is promptly identified and escalated.

(b) Restrict access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Ensure employees
who are in possession of inside information are fully
conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

(©) Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Group enters into significant negotiations.

(d) Develop procedures for responding to market rumours,
leaks and inadvertent disclosures.

(e) Provide regular training to relevant employees to help them
understand the Company’ policies and procedures as well
as their relevant disclosure duties and obligations.

) Disseminate inside information via the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange
before the information is released via other channels, such
as the press, wire services or posting on the Company’s
website.
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Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2021, the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems have been reviewed annually.

During 2021, the effectiveness of the systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational
and compliance controls with emphasis on business continuity
management and procurement has been reviewed. Additionally,
the heads of major business and corporate functions were
required to undertake control self-assessments of their key
controls. These results were assessed by the senior management
and reported to the audit and risk management committee, which
then reviewed and reported the same to the Board.

The audit and risk management committee and the Board were
not aware of any areas of concern that would have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position or results of operations
and considered the risk management and internal control systems
to be generally effective and adequate including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted Shareholders Communication Policy
with objective of ensuing that the Shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established a number of channels to
communicate with the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports,
quarterly reports, interim reports and circulars are issued
in printed form and are available on the GEM website
www.hkgem.com and the Company’s website at
www.singlee.com.cn;

(ii) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company;

(iii) corporate information is made available on the Company’s
website;
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(iv) annual and special general meetings provide a forum for
the shareholders to make comments and exchange views
with the Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves
the Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend
payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no significant
change in the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholder’s interest
and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration voting. All
resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meeting will be voted by
poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results
will be posted on the GEM website and the Company’s website
after the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board
on requisition of shareholders holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company or by such shareholders
who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”) (as the case
may be) pursuant to Article 58 of the Bye-laws. Such requisition
must state the object of business to be transacted at the meeting
and must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company or the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Shareholders should follow
the requirements and procedures as set out in such Article for
convening an extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may
put forward proposals at general meeting of the Company by
sending the same to the Company at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may
send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the dividend policy which has set out
the standard rules and guidelines to be followed by the Board in
considering whether to recommend dividend. The policy sets out
the consideration factors for recommendation and declaration of
dividend payment, such as the Group’s business and financial
performance, working capital requirements, capital expenditure
and future development plans, retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Group and other factors that the Board deems
relevant. The payment of the dividend is also subject to
shareholders’ approval and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the Bye-Laws of
the Company.

The dividend policy does not constitute a binding commitment
by the Company on its future dividend and shall not obligate the
Company to declare dividend at any time or from time to time, but
only represents a general rules and reference purpose regarding
the dividend policy. The Board will review the policy and reserve
the right to amend the said policy from time to time.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SING LEE SOFTWARE
(GROUP) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 76 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by International Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

B B E R E

HARETEE D)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETMAEERRETSE

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for
trade receivables

PR E iR 2 1G5 RIS iR

We identified estimated provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables as a key audit matter due to
the exercise of significant management judgement and
estimation for the determination of allowance for expected
credit losses of trade receivables.

BAERKE SER A TRREERRBERRN A
RESAFE MIBERNEREEECRNKESER AN
EEBRBERITERERAEN REFHIE -

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying value of the
Group’s trade receivables was RMB29,516,000, net
of allowance for credit losses of RMB1,286,000. The
Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on trade receivable balances
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or
on a collective basis. Except for items that are subject to
individual evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the Group estimates expected credit losses
for the remaining trade receivable balances on a collective
basis. The rates applied in the collective assessment are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The collective
assessment is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable information and that is
available without undue cost or effort. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.
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Details relating to the determination of allowance for
expected credit losses of trade receivables are set out
in Notes 4, 21 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HETFTRWE IR ZEREERRBERR 2 FFHAR
e MK - 214356 -

Our procedures in relation to estimated provision of
expected credit losses for trade receivables included:

BEBRWE ZRFEFHEREERABENEF 21

e Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over
the processes that the management performed for
assessing the impairment of trade receivables including
the use of collective assessment;
THREREMRTHEYNE SRFREMETREFZE
EEE  BEEREAFTME

e QObtaining an understanding and evaluating the
appropriateness of the basis of management’s
judgement about the determination of groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns;
THEHHEREMET AR REN 2 ZEEK
OB HEREZBEM

e FEvaluating the reasonableness of management’s
determination of the expected credit loss rates based
on historical default rates and taking into consideration
of the forward-looking information;

A EREERBRATHERERERAEMEEREET
RHEEEA &

e Assessing the estimates used to determine historical
default rates by considering historical cash collection
performance of different groupings of trade receivables;
FHEEERAERR XA A - HEBREREE
JEWE 5 B AR 2 B ER @ WRFRER

e Discussing with the management for forward-looking
information used and assessing the information based
on publicly available information; and
HERENRATA AR MEERS RIRIE AR ER G
BAER &

e Testing the accuracy of management’s calculation of
the expected credit losses for trade rec;eivables.
BHEREA B RN E ZRNTFAEEIERANERY -

HRBRM (EE) ROERD A
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine this matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter.
We describe this matter in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Sunnie Sy.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBmkHM2EKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

2021 2020
—E——F —EFF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARETT AREFIT
Revenue WA 5 94,408 85,535
Cost of sales and services $HE FARFSA A (93,492) (78,776)
Gross profit ES| 916 6,759
Other income E A A 7 4,568 2,576
Impairment losses under expected FEHAEEE1ERI T 2 RI{EE
credit loss model, net of reversal 18 © HIBREWNE SR
on trade receivables and contract & 4)& E#[El
assets (3,019) (4,586)
Impairment losses recognised HRETLEERDE  BER
intangible assets and property, RERREEE
plant and equipment (3,368) -
Other gains and losses H bz M B8 8 10,386 (8,596)
Distribution and selling expenses 9 $4 K §4 & & (9,274) (12,037)
Administrative expenses EIREH (14,640) (15,797)
Finance costs BEEHA 9 (1,506) (2,226)
Loss before tax BiAEE (15,937) (33,907)
Income tax credit FriSHiE R 10 2,169 2,703
Loss and total comprehensive ZAEEBIENZEBXAEH
expense for the year 11 (13,768) (81,204)
Loss per share BREER 15
- Basic (RMB cents) —ER(ARES) (1.05) (2.37)
— Diluted (RMB cents) —HEARES) (1.05) (2:37)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI R

At 31 December 2021 R=E-—#+_-HA=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARETFIT
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B KEAE 16 10,491 11,880
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 444 761
Intangible assets mEE 18 - 4,166
10,935 16,807
Current Assets REEE
Inventories — finished goods T8 531 283
Trade and other receivables BUE 5 N AR 21 42,881 38,197
Contract assets EHEE 22 596 583
Financial assets at fair value through ZALEFF AR Z
profit or loss TRIEE 20 163 170
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 23 44,976 58,358
89,147 97,591
Assets classified as held for sale DERFEHECEE 24 = 36,798
89,147 134,389
Current Liabilities REaE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 I B Ath BR 5K 25 16,833 16,184
Amounts due to directors T ESEHIE 26 733 648
Borrowings E3=¥ 27 12,461 20,668
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 157 439
Amount due to an immediate R —REEERARFIR
holding company 29 11 11
30,195 37,950
Liabilities associated with assets BAEAFEHEZEE
classified as held for sale BREMNAE 24 - 2,193
30,195 40,143
Net Current Assets REEEFE 58,952 94,246
Total Assets less Current HEERRBAEE
Liabilities 69,887 111,053
77 FREHS(EE)RBERLT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

At 31 December 2021 R=—E-——F+_-HA=+—H

2021 2020
—B=-—-F —ECTF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF ARETT ARETIT
Capital and Reserves EXRKEE
Share capital &N 30 12,538 12,538
Reserves i 39,442 53,210
Total Equity A 51,980 65,748
Non-current Liabilities kREBER
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 19 = 2,169
Borrowings BE 27 17,907 43,121
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 - 15
17,907 45,305
69,887 111,053

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 192 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
23 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

HUNG YUNG LAI
DIRECTOR
REEE
EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MERERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F ——#+_-H=+—HIFF/E

Share-hased

Share Share  Statutory Shareholder's  Translaion ~ payments Accumulated
capital premium reserves  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
R AER

ke ROEE  iRREE  RRHR  EXRE  NOREE  EHER ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
(Note ) (Note b) (Note )
(Hita) (Hitt) (hic)

At1 January 2020 R-E-ZF-F-H 12,538 179,132 3,618 786 5217 33,394 (187,728 96,952
Lossand fotal comprehensive ~ AEEBRERZER
expense for the year s - - - - - - (31,204 (31,204
Lapse of share options iR - - - - - (2,409 2403 =
At31 December 2020 e 3 g
S=f 12,538 179,132 3,613 786 5217 30,991 (166,529) 65,748
Loss and total comprehensive ~~ AEEBERZART
expense for the year &g - - - - - - (13,768) (13,768)
Lapse of share options BRERN - - - = - (24,360) 24,360 =
At 31 December 2021 S
=+-A 12,538 179,132 3,613 786 5217 6,631 (155,937) 51,980
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

Notes:

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”), share
premium is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
share premium and other reserves if (i) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital account.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain two statutory reserves, being
an enterprise expansion fund and a statutory surplus reserve fund which
are non-distributable. Appropriations to such reserves are made out of net
profit after taxation reported in the statutory financial statements of the PRC
subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by their
respective boards of directors annually. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and can be applied
in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue. The enterprise
expansion fund can be used for expanding the capital base of the PRC
subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

On 30 September 2017, Mr. Hung Yung Lai, being the Chairman,
executive director and controlling shareholder of the Company, waived the
balance due to him of approximately RMB786,000. The amount has been
capitalised as shareholder’s contribution.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘l_\éiﬁaﬁiﬁii

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Loss before tax BRTRIE R (15,937) (33,907)
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs BEEMA 1,506 2,226
Interest income FBUA (186) (486)
Exchange gain B 3 W a (1,722) (1,499
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BENERETE
equipment 1,063 1,088
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 1,196 1,466
Amortisation of intangible assets B A Y 1,193 5,300
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEYE - BEKEEER
and equipment 13 2
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —MKT B AR Mk (6,672) -
Impairment loss under expected TEEMEEEAENXT ZRE
credit loss model, net of reversal 18 - MR EWE SRR
on trade receivables and contract BHEERR
assets 3,019 4,586
Impairment loss recognised on R\ EEREREE
intangible assets 2,973 -
Impairment loss recognised on ERWE - WE MR ERESE
property, plant and equipment 395 -
Written-off of inventories FE#HE = 55
Loss from waiver of trade receivable ~ FEUWE 5 BR5k < FA R E18 - 7,903
Loss on fair value changes of BARBEABRZSRIEE
financial assets at fair value NAEEHHEE
through profit or loss 3 =
Operating cash flows before EEESRBACKERESRE
movements in working capital (13,156) (13,266)
Increase in inventories HFEEM (248) (92)
(Increase) decrease in trade and FEWE 5 K EAth BRER (35 00) R >
other receivables (7,588) 2,743
(Increase) decrease in contract BREE SR
assets (69) 1,678
Increase (decrease) in trade and FENE 5 R EABRFRIE R )
other payables 738 (3,153)
Cash used in operations REFARS (20,323) (12,090)
Income tax paid BATETISR = (211)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING &E&EZEfACRE R
ACTIVITIES (20,323) (12,301)
A (KE) R ERATR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

2021 2020
—B-—F —ECTF
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARETT ARETFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Net cash flow on disposal of a HE—ERBARK
subsidiary WEmE F5 24 42,024 =
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WEREE
equipment (82) (750)
Interest received BYFE 123 63
NET CASH GENERATED REFBHAB (A ZHRE
FROM (USED IN) INVESTING HEE
ACTIVITIES 42,065 (687)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEE RS IR 15,000 19,000
Proceeds from loans from a EEEBEMSHIEA
director 1,867 -
Advances from directors EERX 448 423
Repayment of loans from a director (EEEEER (28,166) (10,682)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERRITEE (22,000) (11,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEBR (1,153) (1,353)
Repayment of advances from EEERIN
directors (336) (544)
Interest paid BERAFE (784) (668)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING @& EBEfiA R E&FE
ACTIVITIES (35,124) (4,824)
NET DECREASE IN CASHAND HB&RREZEYZRD
CASH EQUIVALENTS HER (13,382) (17,812)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS A—A—HBzBE&R
AT 1 JANUARY REZEEY 58,358 76,170
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS A+=-—B=+—HzH&E
AT 31 DECEMBER, ReZEY -
represented by bank balances and  BlER1T4E 57 MIR &
cash 44,976 58,358
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

GENERAL

Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in the annual report. Its immediate holding
company is Goldcorp Industrial Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Hung Yung Lai, who is also the
chairman and an executive director of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are development and sales of
software products, sales of related hardware products
and provision of technical support services. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to
IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021.

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee - Cost necessary to sell inventories (IAS
2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the
net realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether
such costs should be limited to those that are incremental
to the sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited to
those that are incremental but should also include costs
that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including
those that are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s
agenda decision was to determine the net realisable
value of inventories taking into consideration incremental
costs only. Upon application of the Committee’s agenda
decision, the Group changed its accounting policy to
determine the net realisable value of inventories taking
into consideration both incremental costs and other cost
necessary to sell inventories. The new accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has

had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:
IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?
Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract'

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-
2020

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendment to IFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the
conditions are met at the end of the
reporting period, even if the lender does not
test compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31

December 2021, the application of the amendments
would not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. P& PR RT e ARAE 5T Bl R B 7 4 5 2 Al

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured
at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions
based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates
in IAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by
the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS
16 Leases and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure
fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Group. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Company gains control until the
date when the Company ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as permitted by
applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEENER#E)
Non-current assets held for sale HIFHEZHRBEE

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such asset
(or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date
of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the criteria described above
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain
a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell which continue to be measured in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out
in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EERHBE®E)
Revenue from contracts with customers EF ez (#)

(Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
Annual Report 2021 94

BHEERE AR —AHARARNE R
HRFREA R — RIBEE
i AR

& THEh —IRIR % - 24
E-BRRERAAEE  mMkmERe
B-REHASTREBREOEE
HEEETT

C EAREEEARE P REK
BEFERBASBEEOMS
HREOFIZS

. AEBBEOBIRIIEARAE
SEENFRETPEHNE
Bk

. AEEBRNLBELHASK
BEERAENEE BN
SERZERHIMITE - A
SNESTRAIBDHITFIA

A RN EPESHEE MK
ARTES H) P2 I B R, ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT - AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If the criteria above are met, the Group accounts
for the promise to grant a licence as a performance
obligation satisfied over time. Otherwise, the Group
considers the grant of licence as providing the
customers the right to use the Group’s intellectual
property and the performance obligation is satisfied
at a point in time at which the licence is granted.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating

to the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations (i.e. sales of software
products with maintenance services), the Group
allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good
or service underlying each performance obligation
is determined at contract inception. It represents
the price at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed

to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the Group transferred the
associated goods or services before payments
from customers in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for significant
financing components, the Group applies a
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The Group
recognises interest income during the period
between the payment from customers and the

transfer of the associated goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided

by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is

transferred to a customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative standalone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F ——#+_-H=+—HIFF/E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEEER4Z
Leases (Continued) HE#E)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
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payments on short-term leases are recognised A HM RGEERR AR -
as expense on a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets FREEE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: FREEEZKRABE

. the amount of the initial measurement of the . HMEBGBZVIFFESE
lease liability;
. any lease payments made at or before . R BBk 2 A8y ERE

the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

MRS - RIS 4R
HEESE

. any initial direct costs incurred by the . AEEMELZERAVBE
Group; and B - &
o an estimate of costs to be incurred by o AEBERFR RBBRIEBEE

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMEBRRNEREER TESEH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EERHBE®E)
Leases (Continued) HE#E)
The Group as lessee (Continued) REBEBEAHA ()
Right-of-use assets (Continued) FREEEE)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

AEBNHEERE S T
GHRHEEEMERZERESR
E BRBBHESAERFHE
REENE - EEMBERT @ £
BEENEAREREMGFAIEAF
HEEMMmER 2 REENE

AEBERBEREEERZRE M
AR EFESR

REEERE

EXMAREIEERE TR B
M HmELERNEIRAR - 11FEA
REFE - BUSRIAKINEL
AEBAR AEINEE N KL AL
FAREEEMA -

REERGEY  AEEZRER
WARX N 2 BEN R RERER R
AEHEAE - NAEHEENRZ
RER  WAKETHETZRS
ME - AREEEANAERSAA
HIZ SEERBRAE o

ME MBS

. fixed payments (including in-substance . EEMNR(BEEEEREER
fixed payments) less any lease incentives PR EWREEES
receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on . RIEAE SR =W A FH s B

an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT K

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2
Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
ease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one or
more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT - AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group has elected to apply the practical
expedient not to assess whether the change is a
lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

° the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (i.e.
RMB) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEENER#E
Government grants (Continued) BT EL ()

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows
expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another IFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payments reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payments reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured
at the fair value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses (unless the services
qualify for recognition as assets).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMEBRRNEREER TESEH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease
payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment less
their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMEBRRNEREER TESEH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEENER#E
Intangible assets (Continued) BELE &)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are estimated individually, when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMEBRRNEREER TESEH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT AC )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwiill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwiill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Al
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with IFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEENER#E)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTEE)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMEBRRNEREER TESEH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kz

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EERHBE®E)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTEGE)
Financial assets (Continued) BHEE ()

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMERRNEREER TESHH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Kg)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2  Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EEETBE®)
Financial instruments (Continued) THETEE)
Financial assets (Continued) LHEEE)
Classification and subsequent measurement of TREENSEEEBHEE)

financial assets (Continued)

)

(i

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised
cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other losses”
line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables and
bank balances) and contract assets, which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant

adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i

(i)

Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active

market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
and contract assets are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

° External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets and where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if
the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or
otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers the terms are substantially different if
the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, trade and
other payables, amounts due to directors and
amount due to immediate holding company are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

(@)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible asset
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or
any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts. Furthermore, the cash flows projections,
growth rate and discount rate are subject to greater
uncertainties in the current year due to uncertainty
on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and
evolve and volatility in financial markets, including
potential disruptions in the Group’s operations.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets subject to impairment assessment were
approximately RMB10,491,000 and nil (2020:
RMB11,880,000 and RMB4,166,000). Impairment
losses are recognized on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are RMB395,000
(2020: nil) and RMB2,973,000 (2020: nil)
respectively.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

(Continued)

(b)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with
significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, for
trade receivables and contract assets which are
individually insignificant or when the Group does
not have reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort
to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors
based on the Group’s internal credit ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets are
disclosed in notes 21, 22 and 35 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M HRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

5. REVENUE 5. SHEWA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PHEFEHHEERA
with customers

Sales of products HEEM 5,038 2,827 - 7,865

Provision of services:  1RHIRT :

— Development and — A RLEERTT

installation of B R 581

bank transaction ([IRITEER S

software (“Bank BR7% 1)

Transaction

Services”) - - 3,909 3,909
— Outsourcing financial — &R1TE PR

services for bank SMEL & B BRTS

customers - - 73,168 73,168
— Development, —FE - REREE

installation and SRS

maintenance of
payment software
system - - 9,466 9,466

Total et 5,038 2,827 86,543 94,408

Geographical markets i & 5%
The PRC F 5,038 2,827 86,543 94,408

Timing of revenue E = ON LT

recognition

A point in time FEF [ 24 4,049 2,827 - 6,876
Over time BERS 989 - 86,543 87,532
Total st 5,038 2,827 86,543 94,408
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

REVENUE (Continued) 5. SHEWA 2

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PIHREFENHERA(E)
with customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_ZT-ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

Sales of Provision
Sales of related  of technical
software hardware support
products products services Total
HE HENRA R
B Em B Em X ERT A&t

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTTE ARETRT ARETE AREBTT

Sales of products HEEM 6,320 2,085 = 8,385

Provision of services:  RHRF :

- Bank Transaction —RITEERZ R

Services - - 16,595 16,595
- Outsourcing financial — &R1TE PR

services for bank SNEL < Bh AR T

customers - - 46,788 46,788
- Development, — A% REREE

installation and AR TS

maintenance of
payment software
system - - 13,767 18,767

Total st 6,320 2,065 77,150 85,535

Geographical markets it E 5
The PRC H 6,320 2,065 77,150 85,5635

Timing of revenue SHEWAERWERE

recognition

A point in time R FE12h 5,866 2,065 = 7,931
Over time & s [ 454 = 77,150 77,604
Total st 6,320 2,065 77,150 85,535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

5.

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of software products with maintenance
services (multiple performance obligations)

The Group mainly sells software products, e.g.
POS-MIS to banks and high-tech companies
directly, and revenue is recognised at a point
in time when control of software products has
transferred, being when the software products
have been delivered to customers’ specific location
and installed for use. In addition, the Group
provided subsequent maintenance service after
the installation, which is considered to be a distinct
service as it is both regularly supplied by the Group
to other customers on a stand-alone basis and
is available for customers from other providers in
the market. Transaction price is allocated between
sales of software products and the maintenance
services on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Revenue relating to the maintenance services
is recognised over time and would be recognised
as a separate performance obligation for provision
of services. The transaction price allocated to these
services is recognised on a straight line basis over
the period of service.

Sales of related hardware products (revenue
recognised at one point in time)

The Group mainly sells related hardware products,
e.g. POS machines to banks and high-tech
companies directly.

For sales of related hardware products, revenue
is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to customers’ specific location. The
normal credit term is 120 to 180 days upon
delivery.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Provision of technical support services
(revenue recognised over time)

The Group provides technical support services
to customers. Such services are recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time as
the Group creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
technical support services based on the stage of
completion of the contract using input method.
In addition, the Group provided subsequent
maintenance service after the completion of
services on Bank Transaction Services and
development, installation and maintenance of
payment software system, which is considered to
be a distinct service as it is both regularly supplied
by the Group to other customers on a stand-
alone basis and is available for customers from
other providers in the market. Transaction price
is allocated between technical support services
and the maintenance services on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Revenue relating to the
maintenance services is recognised over time and
would be recognised as a separate performance
obligation for provision of services. A contract
asset, net of contract liability, is recognised over
the period in which the technical support services
are performed representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed because
the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional. Retention
receivables, are classified as contract assets, which
ranges from one to two years from the date of the
practical completion of the support services. The
relevant amount of contract asset is reclassified to
trade receivables when the defect liability period
expires. The defect liability period serves as an
assurance that the technical support services
performed comply with agreed upon specifications
and such assurance cannot be purchased
separately.
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ExBERNERERETHERSEN
DEERKE SRR - BREEE
HE R RIRIHE REATTRM X IZ
RIGHIRE - ZIREERBUEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

5.

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Provision of technical support services
(revenue recognised over time) (Continued)

In some circumstances, the Group received the
advance payment which considered containing
significant financing component and accordingly
the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into
consideration the credit characteristics of the
Group.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
and the expected timing of recognising revenue are
as follows:

5.

SHEWA #)

(i)

(iii)

BITREFHNENEE@)

FRR B AR (W 2 A T 7
#B) (&)

ERLBRT - A EEURE K
B ARBAREEARERS
RiLKESBEREEHBHELE
FABE - ERiRARENEE
R o

TEREREFENZHBRTENER
N5 E

RZBE-Z—FR-_ZF-_ZTF+=A
=t—H RPERSEEZEHKE
HEE(CREKBIBAREK) - 7B
HARER U S MR T

Provision of technical
support services

R AT % AR
2021 2020
—B--F —ECTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Within one year —FLAR 476 1,341
More than one year but not more —F LA H{ER BB
than two years M 79 133
More than two years R LA = 89 108
644 1,582
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 — & ——

e MR MR

Fr—A=1—HItFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS 6. BB
Information reported to the Company’s executive directors, MARBRMITES(RREERARADE
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?), for WMAFETERDELFHESIHRRE
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment B MUIERSHEERNE M ATRER
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or % o
services delivered or provided.
Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating BRME - REEERITBHRE LN FESTHE
segments under IFRS 8 Operating Segments are as BOE  AEBA2RREESHS
follows:
1. Sales of software products 1. HERMEM
2. Sales of related hardware products 2. SHE MRS Em
3. Provision of technical support services B R IR R
No operating segments have been aggregated in arising at REBN G EED IS FTAEK T 28
the reportable segments of the Group. PaN:i
Segment revenue and results DEBHE WA R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AEEZREERTEMO BEIDHERA
results by operating and reportable segment: PESpdron)in UNNE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE— —F+=-HA=+—HLEE
Sales of Provision
Sales of related of technical
software hardware support
products products services Total
$HE SHERR R AR
B4EMm EHEm S ERE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR AR¥BTRT AR%®TxR
External sales and HINEE RBIHE
total revenue A
— segment revenue — D EFHE A 5,038 2,827 86,543 94,408
SEGMENT RESULTS DEPELE (766) (537) (26,076) (27,379)
Unallocated other income RO EEALA 4,568
Unallocated other gains and &2 B H MU K EE 10,386
losses
Unallocated corporate RoBedE (2,006)
expenses FZ
Finance costs BhEER (1,506)
Group’s loss before tax REBABRRIEE (15,937)
R (RE) RBERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. EESEB )
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEPHEW AR EE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZE-_ZEHF+_A=1+—HILEE
Sales of Provision
Sales of related  of technical
software hardware support
products products services Total
THE THEARR R AT
BE M EFE M SRR A5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT AR®ETRT ARETT AREBTET
External sales and HINEE RBIHE
total revenue A
— segment revenue — S EBHE WA 2,065 77,150 85,535
SEGMENT RESULTS DEPELE (8,751) (1,112) (21,289) (31,152)
Unallocated other income RO EEALA 2,576
Unallocated other gains and &2 B H MU M E1E (693)
losses
Unallocated corporate KoL (2,412)
expenses FZ
Finance costs BhEER (2,226)
Group’s loss before tax REEHBRBIRIEE (33,907)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the MBI @B B SR Y AREE

same as the Group’s accounting policies as described
in note 3. Segment results represents the loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of finance costs,
unallocated corporate expenses, other income and certain
other gains and losses. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment asset
and segment liability is presented as the CODM does
not regularly review such information for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. EESEB )
Other segment information Hith 5 BER
Sales of Provision
Sales of related of technical
software hardware support
products products services Total
HE SHEM R
BHER BHER X ER® &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®BTRT AR¥TR AR®BTR

For the year ended BE-_Z-_—%+=A

31 December 2021 =t+t—HLEEE
Amounts included in the BRENTEDBEEZ

measure of segment RIE

results:
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - B&E MR ETE

and equipment 57 32 974 1,063
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {FREEEITE

assets 64 36 1,096 1,196
Amortisation of intangible mR B E#E

assets 64 36 1,093 1,193
Impairment losses on trade RERERNERE S

receivables and contract EFREHEERE

assets recognised in profit or 518

loss 187 105 3,208 3,500
Impairment losses on trade RiE=EENEKE S

receivables and contract EREREHNEERE

assets reversed in profit or g

loss (26) (14) (441) (481)
Impairment losses recognise  HERE © ME M&E

on property, plant and DERIE]

equipments 21 12 362 395
Impairment losses recognise ~ MEREF & ER(E

on intangible assets 582 - 2,391 2,973

FRB (EE) ROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. EEDE 7
Other segment information (Continued) HibpIHER (#)
Sales of Provision
Sales of related  of technical
software hardware support
products products services Total
THE THEARRE R AT
BIFEM BEFEm SRR BFF

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTE ARETE ARETT ARBTE

For the year ended BE-_Z-_ZTH+-A

31 December 2020 =t+t—HLEEE
Amounts included in the BRENTEDBEEZ

measure of segment RIF

results:
Depreciation of property, plant #1% - B&E MR ETE

and equipment 80 26 982 1,088
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {FREEEITE

assets 108 B 1,323 1,466
Amortisation of intangible B A EEH

assets 392 128 4,780 5,300
Impairment losses on trade RERERHNERE S

receivables and contract RFEEHNEERE

assets recognised in profit g

or loss 938 307 3,556 4,801
Impairment losses on trade RiE=EEMNEKE S

receivables and contract ERREHNEERE

assets reversed in profit or 518

loss (16) 6) (194) (215)
Loss from waiver of trade JEWE SRR 2 Fh R

receivable EE - - 7,903 7,903
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. BB

Geographical information ih B & K

The Group’s revenue from external customers is all REERBINRES ZHEWAKREF
generated from customers located in the PRC. R o

All non-current assets of the Group are located in the PRC REBEERDEEREEMTHE D
by location of assets. BRI BIIRA ©

Information about major customers FEEFEE

Revenue from customers from sales of software products, REBRBREANEP 2 HEEHFEmM - 18
related hardware products, provision of technical support BREMERMREHBIT S ERSE 2 BKAR
services of the corresponding years contributing over 10% FAEBBAASHE10%T ¢

of the total sales of the Group are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEITHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Customer A BEPH 62,662 41,204
Customer B BEZ 14,351 11,142
OTHER INCOME 7. Hr A

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Government grants (Note) RS HaE (ffat) 3,746 1,652
Interest income FBHA 186 486
Others HAmh 636 438
4,568 2,576
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised Kiid - BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—BIFE &%
unconditional grants of RMB3,746,000 (2020: RMB905,000) B RER R B 5 BT A S B R R 2 A5 T
from local government to encourage the business operations in 46T BRI AL A R #53,746,000T (=T =
the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group T4E . ARMI05,0007T) - BE-_E_TF
recognised government grants approximately of RMB747,000 in TZA=FT—BLLFE AEEERBUTHAL
respect of Covid-19-related subsidies from government authorities HARMET47,0007T - ER/BEE R BEBUT

in relation for employment support in Hong Kong and the PRC. EPIES HICovid- 1918 RA L 232 FE AL -

FRB A (EE) ROERAT
e —E=— 55

—_—



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES Hinl = R &8
2021 2020
—=E-—F —TE-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Net exchange gain (loss) Y W U Es (B518) 2,594 (666)
Loss on disposal of property, LEME - BB K&
plant and equipment E518 (13) @)
Loss from waiver of trade EURE SRR ZE%
receivable (Note) BB (A7) = (7,903)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR/ K
(Note 24) (K15E24) 6,672 -
Fair value changes of financial BARBEABRZ SREE
assets at FVTPL NAEE () =
Others HAmh 1,136 (25)
10,386 (8,596)
Note: A service contract with a customer was terminated under mutual AaE: REBE-ZT-_ZTF+-_A=+—HBLLFE @&

agreement and a loss from waiver of trade receivable arising from
sales of software products and provision of technical support
services of approximately RMB7,903,000 was recognised during
year ended 31 December 2020.

BEZRBENERET BEL L - WERR
BRI R B IR SR BRI S AR 7% 1 B2 A ) B
B 5 8RR 2 B B 18 49 AR #7,903,0007T °

FINANCE COSTS BEE A
2021 2020
—E-—f —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEBEZHE 760 638
Interest on loans from a director BEEBEZFE 722 1,558
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZNE 24 30
1,506 2,226
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT FREHIER
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT")  FFEMEFRESHR([EEMRBEHR])
— Underprovision in respective —BAFEREBTR
prior years - (72)
= (72)
Deferred taxation (Note 19) EERIE(H1a£19)
— Current year —ARFE 2,169 2,775
2,169 2,703

Hangzhou Singlee Technology Company Limited
(“Singlee Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company, was
established in Hangzhou, the PRC, with statutory tax rate
of 25%. Singlee Technology is regarded as a High and
New Technology Enterprise defined by Zhejiang Finance
Bureau, Administrator of Local Taxation of Zhejiang
Municipality and Zhejiang Municipal office of the State
Administration of Taxation (collectively referred as the
“local tax authorities”) and is therefore entitled to 15%
preferential tax rate for the PRC EIT for three years starting
from 2013. During the year ended 31 December 2019, its
High and New Technology Enterprise status was extended
by the local tax authorities for three more years to 2022.
Accordingly, the tax rate for Singlee Technology is 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law,
the applicable tax rate of Hangzhou Singlee Software
Company Limited (“Singlee Software”), and Xin Yintong
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Xin YinTong”) is 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising
from Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau
of the PRC and effective from 2018 onwards, enterprises
engage in research and development activities are entitled
to claim 175% of the research and development expenses
so incurred in a year as tax deductible expenses in
determining its tax assessable profits for that year (“Super
Deduction”). Singlee Technology has claimed such Super
Deduction in ascertaining its tax assessable profits for both
years.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

142

10.

FRieBiiE % (@)

RETECEMEHE  B2_F——F
R_Z_ZFE+_A=1+—HLFE M
JHETRIE AR A B ([FTRE ) R 3R
BEHERAR([FIRE ) 2 ERRES
25% °

HRARERBE_T_—FR-_F_F
FHt-A=1TRALFEIERTEELE

R ERBORN - MU B BB NG TE
e

REH ARG ERAEMLE —F
—N\FRERH —HEER - EEWHHED
R BB E B FE RV G M
ZFEELENTEFAM175%EE SR H
B ([BEEN]) - FABRREEHR
P (4 & O FE AR 5 By 2 SR BB BRI AT



10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The tax credit for the year is reconciled to the loss before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

10. FiiSHiER =)

other comprehensive income as follows:

AEERAELEGEBEa NEMEEK
SR GHRBIERZERNT

2021 2020
— B —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETF T
Loss before tax FRIEERIES R (15,937) (33,907)
Tax at enterprise income tax rate at 2SR E15%
15% (2020: 15%) (Note) (ZEZZF 15%) Mz
MIB(HTEL) (2,391) (5,086)
Tax effect of income not taxable B S N -7
for tax purpose (885) (2,083)
Tax effect of expenses not PRI R A S 2 B &
deductible for tax purpose 2,230 4,314
Tax effect of tax losses not RIERMIBBE R E
recognised = 1,046
Effect of Super Deduction BREEN T (853) (966)
Utilisation of tax losses previously B iBA KR 2 FIEK 8
not recognised (518) -
Tax effect of different tax rates of ~ MIEB A B TR R 2 FEiEH £
subsidiaries 271 -
Underprovision in respect of BEFERETRE
prior years - 72
Others Hi (23) =
Tax credit for the year KEFHIBER (2,169) (2,703)

Note:

Applicable income tax rate of 15% (2020: 15%) represents the

relevant income tax rate of Singlee Technology, the subsidiary of
the Company which generates majority of the Group’s assessable

profit.

143

Hiat

BRERREI5%(ZE-_ZF : 15%) A
RAIMBRRFF B Z HAMEHEE - %
REBREEEERNDD ERBETF -

AR (EH)RHERAT
SEi



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

11.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging
(crediting) the following items:

TEEEER
AEREBEBREIRGTA) TIBA -

2021 2020
— -5 —TE-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Salaries, wages and other staff Fe IEREMET
benefits =l 71,005 66,914
Retirement benefit schemes RNERET SR (A1)
contributions (Note 1) 13,597 7,420
Total staff costs (Note 2) B TR A B=E(f1i22) 84,602 74,334
Fair value changes of the KREESRAAEEY
investment fund 3 -
Depreciation of property, plant and  #1% - E L& EITE
equipment 1,063 1,088

Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ B EEITE 1,196 1,466

Amortisation of intangible assets BB EHE 1,193 5,300

Auditor’s remuneration BT BN & 1,324 1,115

Research costs recognised as an R AR ZHEEH

expense (included in cost of sales) (B 5t ABHERAR) 8,180 9,388

Impairment losses recognised on  FEUE SRR KAL)

trade receivables and contract B ERRABEERE

assets 3,500 4,801
Impairment losses reversal on trade JEURE SRR EHEE

receivables and contract assets MR AR B B 18 A [a] (481) (215)
Impairment loss recognised on WREFEERERE

intangible assets 2,973 -
Impairment loss recognised on RYE - WE KEERERE

property, plant and equipment 395 -
Written-off of inventories TF &gy - 55
Cost of inventories recognised HRAEMZ 2 FEKAR

as an expense 1,934 1,639

Notes: Bzt -

1. For the year ended 31 December 2020, certain amount of 1. BHEZZ-ZF+-_A=1+—HIEFE  @R¥
retirement benefit scheme contributions from February to EMAEE  PRBN#E—S_TF_A
December 2020 was waived by the PRC government due to the T ANEHRABREEIER - HE-T
COVID outbreak. No such waiver was received during the year ——F+-A=1+—ALFE - RKEILEE
ended 31 December 2021. % o

2. Directors’ emoluments are included in the above staff costs. 2. EEMSEFT A LME TRA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bi2 = F = —4#+=-H=+—HIFF)Z

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EEBERBSTHRASHM
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, RIBEARN ETHAR R ARG TSR -
disclosed pursuant to applicable Listing Rules and CO, is REEBRFEZESRERTTHA B H
as follow: T

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Hung Yung Lai AERLIE S A - 104 5 109
Mr. Cui Jian BERRSLAE - 436 5 441
Mr. Hung Ying AR A - 482 5 487
Mr. Lin Xue Xin (Note) PREFT LA (MiFE) 104 490 63 657
Subtotal /et 104 1,512 78 1,694
Independent non-executive &N FHITES

directors

Mr. Pao Ping Wing THIRER 5o 104 - - 104
Mr. Thomas Tam KEERAE 104 - - 104
Mr. Lo King Man ERX5GE 104 - - 104
Subtotal /NEt 312 - - 312
Total FEE 2,006

FRB A (EE) ROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

Company.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERESTHRAEFM =)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
2020
—TTF
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and schemes
Fees bonuses  contributions Total
He - RIREA
we  ERRIEA FTEI R Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AR®EFTT ARETT AREBTET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Hung Yung Lai AREMS ST A - 112 6 118
Mr. Cui Jian BERRSAE - 443 6 449
Mr. Hung Ying RRARS A - 744 6 750
Mr. Lin Xue Xin (Note) MREFT S A (BIFE) 112 603 44 759
Subtotal NET 112 1,902 62 2,076
Independent non-executive B kHITES
directors
Mr. Pao Ping Wing THIRER 5o 112 - - 112
Mr. Thomas Tam REELE 112 = = 112
Mr. Lo King Man ERX5iE 112 - - 112
Subtotal NET 336 - - 336
Total “aEt 2,412
Note:  Appointed and acted as the Chief Executive Officer of the Wi - BEEREWEEARRRTHAES -

A EFBATESZHMIT B REHAR
AIRASEERSHREE RS o LM
BT ESZHMIT B REFERARTA]
BERE R -

HE-_Z-_—R-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—
BILFE AEESERTANEEZNEHF
B e A TR 5| AN AR E B i A K E E I
2Bk E A R LIS 2 lE -

RAFE  BIEEEXRSTRABKRE
SRBRETTFHIO L -
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14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13. ILEREHFMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FAREE LA TNEERIE=2F
year included three directors (2020: three directors), details B(ZZE-TF ZRBF)  BHEFINF
of whose remuneration are set out in note 12 above. BHN EXHEI12 - FRBTMA(ZE=
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining TF  MB)WIEARRESHITHREED
two (2020: two) highest paid employees who are neither a SR EMATHFFEEHIIOT
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETTT
Salaries and other benefits Fre REAER 947 1,191
Retirement benefit schemes RIRBAET SR
contributions 64 48
1,011 1,239
Their emoluments were individually within the Hong Kong WEE R 2 B2 F R 1,000,000 2
dollar (“HK$”) 1,000,000 band. EEA o
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no HE T - —F R -_ZET-_ZFTFE+_H
remuneration was paid by the Group to the five highest =+—HUIEE AEEHMERLTESRS
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining FAT T EAESHEEARS| EINARNE
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. g hn AR B B 2 SREN sk {E A E R 5B
2 e -
DIVIDEND 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RIE-—F  BEENAFTBRIRE

shareholders of the Company during 2021, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2020: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

15.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

15.

BRER
ARBEEANEBIESRERNREERERTS
B BB

Loss figures are calculated as follows: EREIEENT ¢
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Loss for the year attributable to RARIEE ARETE SRR
owners of the Company for the AEARREEEEBREFRER
purposes of basic and diluted loss
per share (13,768) (31,204)
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ZE-F
’000 000
T Fix
Number of shares RGER
Weighted average number of BETESRER B EEE
ordinary shares for the purpose of 2 @A HNHEF 1581
basic/diluted loss per share 1,317,240 1,317,240

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2021 does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s share options because the exercise
price of those options was higher than the average market
price for shares. The computation of diluted loss per share
for year ended 31 December 2020 does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
since their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in
loss per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

Fr—A=1—HItFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 — & ——

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. W% - BERRE

Computer
Owned Leasehold  and related Motor
properties Improvements  equipment vehicles Total
e ElR
REWE WEEE HERE 55 L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT
COST B
At 1 January 2020 AZZ-TF-A—H 12,402 3,882 7,669 1,406 25,359
Additions 10 339 - 411 - 750
Disposals HE - = (22) () (27)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-TF
+=ZA=+—H 12,741 3,882 8,058 1,401 26,082
Additions £ - - 82 - 82
Disposals HE = = (49) = (49)
At 31 December 2021 RZZ_—fF
+-A=+—H 12,741 3,882 8,091 1,401 26,115
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 January 2020 “Z-ZF#—-A—H 2,226 3,485 6,504 924 13,139
Provided for the year RERE 572 86 309 121 1,088
Eliminated on disposals R S - = (20) () (25)
At 31 December 2020 AT _TE
+=ZA=+—H 2,798 3,571 6,793 1,040 14,202
Provided for the year RERE 576 86 310 91 1,063
Eliminated on disposals T B 8 - = (36) = (36)
Impairment loss recognised in  JREE 15t A%
profit or loss - - 395 - 395
At 31 December 2021 R-T-—4F
+-A=1+—H 3,374 3,657 7,462 1,131 15,624
CARRYING VALUES RREE
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ—fF
+-RA=+—H 9,367 225 629 270 10,491
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZF
+-A=+—H 9,943 311 1,265 361 11,880
R (RE) RBERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
value, using straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Over the shorter of the term
of lease or 20 years

Over the shorter of the term
of lease or 5 years

20%-30%

Owned properties
Leasehold improvements

Computer and related
equipment

Motor vehicles 10%—-20%

The owned properties are situated on leasehold land in the

PRC and held under medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged owned properties with a net book
value of approximated RMB8,901,000 (31 December
2020: RMB9,448,000) to secure borrowings granted to
the Group (see note 27).

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

As the Group had recurring losses, the management of
the Group concluded there was indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on certain
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with
carrying amounts of RMB10,886,000 and RMB2,973,000
respectively. The recoverable amount of these assets are
estimated individually.

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
equipment have been determined based on their fair value
less costs of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison
to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets
which is based on the recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location and conditions
of the property. The relevant assets were impaired to
their recoverable amount of RMB10,491,000, which is
their carrying values at year end and the impairment of
RMB395,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during
the year.

The recoverable amounts of intangible assets have been
determined based on their value in use. The relevant assets
were fully impaired and the impairment of RMB2,973,000
has been recognised in profit or loss during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS EREEE
Leased properties
HEWE
RMB’000
ARET T
As at 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+=-A=+—8H
Carrying amount IREE 444
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZEF+-A=+—8H
Carrying amount IREE 761
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—E-—F+-A=+—HILEE
Depreciation charge heE® 1,196
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—E-—EF+-—A=+—HILEE
Depreciation charge he® 1,466
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Expense relating to short-term HEHAEFEN T
leases 1,477 1,571
Total cash outflow for leases HER SRR 2,654 2,954
Additions to right-of-use assets g AEEE 856 1,348

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one to two years without extension and termination
options. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
offices premises. As at 31 December 2021, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in
this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HEFREE
Development
costs
HREH
RMB’000
AREFTT
COST RS
At 1 January 2020 RZE_TF—-H—H 39,698
Reclassified as held for sale ENOEARMELE (18,857)
At 31 December 2020 and 2021 ANZE - —FR T FF+_A=+—H 20,841
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2020 —ET-FTF—H—H 18,742
Amortisation for the year REFHEE 5,300
Reclassified as held for sale ENOHEARELE (7,367)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE=ZF+=-A=+—H 16,675
Amortisation for the year IRE G 1,193
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss BAEEEET A B 2,973
At 31 December 2021 RZZE=Z—F+=-H=1+—8H 20,841
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H =
At 31 December 2020 NZE_FTFF+—A=+—H 4,166

Development costs are internally generated and have finite

useful lives of 5 years, which are amortised on a straight- HEHEEY o

line basis.

FMEERCEEERFHAEF  HERE

An impairment loss of RMB2,973,000 is recognised during
the year. Details are set out in note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 19. EEMEBEERE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEEVBRAKRENENME » BETIE
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax ERBBEERBEDHES - TXARM
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the ahE B MMIRER IBESH O
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETT
Deferred tax liabilities RLEHIBEE = (2,169)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities NTRRAFERBAEFEEERNERKR
recognised and movements thereon during current and EEHIHBEAREZS) -
prior years:
Temporary
difference
Development on revenue
costs  recognition Others Total
Rz
HEER ERER Hity &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2020 RZZ=TF—H—H (2,887) (1,342) (715) (4,944)
Credit to profit or loss AR 735 1,342 698 2,775
At 31 December 2020 R-Z_ZHF
+=-A=+—H (2,152) - (17) (2,169)
Credit to profit or loss FABR 2,152 - 17 2,169
At 31 December 2021 R-Z_—F
+-A=+-H - - - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB6,941,000 (2020:
RMB10,705,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately RMB6,941,000 (2020: RMB10,705,000)
of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

19.

20.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The unused tax losses will expire in the following years:

19. EEHREEFE#®)
RIREF 7 RB)AHEEBZEEHAWT -

2021 2020

—B=-—-F —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETTT

2021 T N/ATRE R 1,286
2022 il - -
2023 —E=4F = _
2024 —EP4F 1,388 2,446
2025 —E-RF 5,553 6,973
Total unused tax losses REVAIEEE R 6,941 10,705

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL:

20. BAREBEABZEZTREE

BAREFARGZEREE

2021 2020
—E-—f T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Investments in unlisted fund, at fair 3F EESEE @ HARE
value 163 170

The unlisted fund is denominated in United State dollar
(“US$”) and the investment objective of the fund is to
achieve capital appreciation through investing in securities,
ownership interest and private equity investments
offered publicly or privately and in relation to energy and
environmental protection business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FEREZREMERR
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREETFIT
Trade receivables JEWE SR
— contracts with customers —RBEAY 30,802 27,697
Less: allowance for credit losses B EERKEE (1,286) (836)
29,516 26,861
Other receivables, prepayments E YRR - TARTERIE
and deposits ) &i-&n
Deposits paid to customers BENEFES 5,350 4,429
Advances to staff M8 IT8X 5,106 4,293
Other tax recoverable AT B E b TR 120 120
Others Hih 2,789 2,494
13,365 11,336
Total trade and other receivables  JEWE 5 & H i BRFUA& 5T 42,881 38,197

The normal credit term is 120 to 180 days upon delivery or

service provided.

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately

RMB72,665,000.

On 30 December 2020, trade receivables amount to
approximately RMB25,308,000, net of allowance for credit
loss of RMB489,000, had been reclassified as held for
sale. Details of the assets/liabilities held for sale are set out

in note 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

21,

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net
of allowance for credit losses presented based on the
invoice dates:

21,

EWE S REMERR
AR Ty e E 5 B8R sk (N BR A1

SEBRKEE

BIAERAHEI D 2RO

2021 2020

—B=-—-F —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBFIT

0-120 days 0E120K 21,928 17,803
121-180 days 121E180% 326 151
181-365 days 181E365K% 605 1,596
Over 365 days 365K A £ 6,657 7,311
29,516 26,861

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB6,710,000 (2020: RMB7,508,000) which
are past due 90 days or more as the reporting date and
are not considered as in default as most of the debtors are
banks with strong financial position and high credit ratings
and the amounts are still considered fully recoverable.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 35.
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

CONTRACT ASSETS 22, BHEE
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Retention receivable FEWE RS 596 583
As at 1 January 2020, contract assets amounted to RZZE-_ZF—F—H ' GHEEAAR
approximately RMB2,261,000. #2 261,0007T °
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right GHEEFESRAEERETH R HE R
to consideration for work completed and not billed HEBREMTREWRARENETR  BAEZ
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future ERFUREERRBORGE - GHE
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade ETZEREANNABKHEREREEEKRE
receivables when the rights become unconditional. ZERN o
The Group typically agrees to a retention period ranging AEEFRBENREENT—ZEZMT * A
from one to two years for 5% to 10% of the contract value. ABHBENS%EI0% - Z& B AR E
This amount is included in contract assets until the end of E HEERBHER  REAKREEPE
the retention period as the Group’s entitiement to this final ZARBNTOEFNARERBDAE G -
payment is conditional during retention period. The Group REB—MAREBERERTHEENEESE
typically transfer contract assets into trade receivables at BERWE SRR - AEEBEZEENE
the end of retention period. The Group classifies these EBARDEE  EARNSEBETHER
contract assets as current because the Group expects BE—REEBAPANERZEZEE - A5E
to realise them in its normal operating cycle. The Group —RARAREBHERFEBENEEERER
typically transfer contract assets into trade receivables at WE ZERN °
the end of retention period.
Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are ABHEEREFT GBI FESS °
set out in note 35.
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. WRITHERRRE

The Group’s bank balances and cash comprise bank
balances which carry interest at prevailing market saving
rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30% (2020: 0.001% to
0.35%) per annum as at 31 December 2021.

Certain of the Group’s bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB23,000 and RMB504,000 (2020:
RMB24,000 and RMB13,416,000) were denominated in
US$ and HK$, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances
and concluded that the probability of defaults of the
counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

24,

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND 24, BHEHENHESEREE—BEHNBER
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY Gl
On 30 December 2020, the directors of the Company RZEBE_ZEF+-_A=1+H '  XRAES
resolved to dispose of one of the Group’s service lines AELEAEEBEP —KEETHER K
under sales of software products and provision of REFMSTERE(BRITEER ) MR
technical support services, i.e. Bank Transaction Services, WiE - TRAERABETEERABEE R
by the way of transferring certain assets and liabilities WAL MT B AR - AUNE T IR B
to a newly established subsidiary, Hangzhou Hengxin BRAR(THMERF @) I GZH B A
Lirong Software Company Limited (“Hangzhou HL”) and AR R SR AN B 77 o ARG (L
transferring the equity interest of this subsidiary to external EERBEEHRT_EARKE B
vendor. The assets and liabilities attributable to the service EOEABEHENHEEER  BR =
line, which is expected to be sold within twelve months, ToEFF A=+ —HNEEHBRR
have been classified as a disposal group held for sale and FHRORAEN(ETX) - gt HE2Hmm
are presented separately in the consolidated statement T ZBRBRALNEEEERHER R
of financial position as at 31 December 2020 (see below). R 2 HMTAREA -
The service line is included in the Group’s sales of software
products and provision of technical support services for
segment reporting purposes.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the service SEAFELENREENEEREBEZ
line classified as held for sale were as follows: FEERAT :
2020
—ETF
RMB’000
AREFIT
Intangible assets EmEE 11,490
Trade receivables FEUE SR K 25,797
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEAEE (489)
Total assets classified as held for sale DEABIERENREE 36,798
Trade and other payable BB S R EMRR 2,193
Total liabilities associated with assets classified as held BN AR EHE 2 EEGRAN
for sale FEN=N 2,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND 24, BHEHENHESBEREE—BHNER
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) Bl#)
On 26 March 2021, Singlee Technology entered into an RZEBEZ—F=A=+B ' FHHE A
equity transfer agreement (“Transfer Agreement”) with — BB E=H (TWEER DTk E
an independent third party (the “Acquirer”), pursuant to e ([ EE Rz - Bt - FFRHERE
which Singlee Technology transferred 100% of the issued MMNEFF RN —E=EF+=_A=+—
share capital of Hangzhou HL to the Acquirer based AMEERABEEEMMEFFFD 2
on the assets and liabilities of Hangzhou HL as at 31 TIRAAI100% T WET - REABARE
December 2020, for a consideration of RMB40,000,000. 40,000,0007C ° RHERZZFT=—FHA
The transaction was completed on 24 May 2021 (the “HUARB(TRER] - fEAERERS
“Completion Date”). As part of the Transfer Agreement, BE D - AR EREE S R ERETS
for profit or loss earned/incurred by Hangzhou HL during HETNERFRR T —_F—A—H
the period between 1 January 2022 and the Completion EXRE A MR EE 2R MR
Date, Singlee Technology and the Acquirer also agreed BE R F—A—RBE_T_—
that it would be taken up by the Acquirer. During the FRA-TMHEEE  mMNEFFIRES
period from 1 January 2021 to 24 May 2021, Hangzhou E5iB8 AR#2,217,0007T © 5% 7B B UEE
HL incurred a loss of RMB2,217,000 and such amount Ff1E - (ERERIMRE -
has been compensated by the Acquirer as an additional
consideration.
2021
—E_—F
RMB’000
ARET T
Consideration: RE:
Consideration received BURRE 42,217
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE— BB L RS
Consideration received and receivable B K ERRE 42,217
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (34,605)
Transaction and related costs associated with the B EFBENR S KB A
disposal (940)
Gain on disposal HE R 6,672
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEMNBRESR
Cash consideration RERE 42,217
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEREMRITESRERS (193)
42,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BENEZREMERR
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
Trade payables FERTE SR 3,803 2,355
Payroll payables JE A< B T 5 B 5,268 5,320
Other PRC tax payables FERT HABBI I8 1,986 2,088
Employee reimbursement payable &1 {& 8 ¥R 2,805 5,287
Accruals EETE A 1,946 173
Others HAmh 1,025 961
Total wEt 16,833 16,184

The following is an aged analysis based on invoice date of
trade payables at the end of the reporting period:

AT EMRENESRRIAZRREH
S ZBRE DT

2021 2020

—B=-—-F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFT ARBFIT

Within 90 days 90K AR 2,790 1,296
91-180 days I E180K 169 12
181-365 days 181E365K 63 68
Over 365 days 365K A £ 781 979
3,803 2,355

The range of credit period on purchases of goods is
around 120 to 180 days.

Trade and other payables of approximately RMB2,537,000
(2020: RMB1,059,000) were denominated in HKS$.

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS 26.

The amounts are denominated in HK$, unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

27. BORROWINGS 27. fBE
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Unsecured loans from a director EIRWESEE W)

(Note ) 18,368 44,789
Secured bank borrowings (Note ii)  EEARIRITEE (A7) 9,000 15,000
Unsecured bank borrowings KRR TR B (A ati)

(Note i) 3,000 4,000

30,368 63,789
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Carrying amount of the above LHEENREEEETEE

borrowings are repayable:

Within one year —FA 12,461 20,668

Within a period of more thanone  —&F A HB BB F

year but not exceeding two
years = 10,429
Within a period of more thantwo ~ RIF A LB BIBRF
years but not exceeding five
years 45 1,460
Within a period of more than five AFUE
years 17,862 31,232
30,368 63,789
Less: Amounts due within one year & : ZIARBEER —FR
shown under current liabilities B H 2 708 (12,461) (20,668)
Amounts shown under non-current 7 AJEREN & & 2 KA
liabilities 17,907 43,121

161

ARG (EE) ROBERQE

—E_—FFH



NOTEé TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

27.

Notes:

M

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group’s loans from a director and the
contractual maturity dates are as follows:

27.

BEwm)
Wz -

0} AEEERRENERRANIIHANT

2020
—EFF
RMB’000
ARETFIT

—ELR
—EMF
MERF
FFE

Within one year

Between one to two years
Between two to five years
More than five years

461 1,668

= 10,429

45 1,460
17,862 31,232

18,368 44,789

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s loans from a
director are as follows:

FEBEZRRUEFTOERFIREERNT

2020
—E-TF
RMB’000
ARETT

Effective interest rate: BIRA =R
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE

2.68%-3.38%

2.68%-3.38%

The weighted average effective interest rate on loans from a
director is 2.70% (2020: 2.83%).

The loans from a director of approximately RMB17,862,000 (2020:
RMB43,854,000) are denominated in HK$, other borrowings are
denominated in the functional currency of the respective group
entity.
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27. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings and the contractual
maturity dates are as follows:

27.

EftC )
Bzt - (4)

(i) AEEEFEENERFEHELNT

2020
—ETF
RMB’000
ARETF T

FERARITHE ¢
—&

Fixed-rate bank borrowings:
Within one year

12,000 19,000

The effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

REBRITHRENEEF R (BRSRE O
KT ¢

2020
—E-TF
RMB’000
ARBFT

Effective interest rate: BIRA R
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMEE

4.80%

4.35%

The weighted average effective interest rate on the bank
borrowings is 4.80% (2020: 4.35%).

The owned properties with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB8,901,000 (2020: RMB9,448,000) have been pledged
to secure bank borrowings of RMB9,000,000 (2020:
RMB15,000,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. THEESE
2021 2020
—=E-—F —TE-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Lease liabilities payable EAEEEE
Within one year —FR 157 439
Within a period of more than one ~ Z R —FEBTZ MG
year but not exceeding two HIfE
years = 15
157 454
Less: Amount due for settlement  J& : 71218 A R EIHIEE A
with 12 months shown under FIE - S AREAE
current liabilities (157) (439)
Amount due for settlement after R12E A& BB ER A FRIE -
12 months shown under M AIEREAE
non-current liabilities - 15
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied THE B EFT AR TS EE KT ER6%
to lease liabilities is 6% (2020: 6%). (ZE=ZF 1 6%) °
29. AMOUNT DUE TO AN IMMEDIATE HOLDING 29. EN—EEEERATFRIE
COMPANY
The amount is denominated in HK$, unsecured, ZREABITTEE  AEET - 25 HE
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. REREE -
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B
Number of shares Amount Amount
LG E] FE HE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“E-—& C-IT-%%  ZEB--% C-ZT-TF B C"T-EZF
’000 '000 HK$’000 HK$’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TR T TR TEL | ARETRE ARETT
Ordinary shares of BREE0.01ET
HK$0.01 each LER
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January and R—A—B&
31 December +-A=+—H 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR
At 1 January and R—A—B&
31 December +=-B=+—H 1,317,240 1,317,240 13,173 13,173 12,538 12,538
SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted on 27 August 2001 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and has been expired on 27 August 2011. Under the
Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may
grant options to eligible employees, including directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. The Scheme would be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption
date and have come to its expiration. All other respects of
the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and
holders of all options granted under the Scheme prior to
such expiry shall be entitled to exercise the outstanding
options pursuant to the terms of the Scheme until expiry of
the said options. As a result, a new share option scheme
which was approved on 28 February 2011 (the “New
Scheme”), take effect immediately after the expiry of the
Scheme. The principal terms of the New Scheme are
same with the Scheme.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 28 February 2011 (the “SGM?”), the New
Scheme mandate limit was refreshed so that the Company
was authorised to grant share options under the New
Scheme for subscription of up to a total of 81,184,000
shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the SGM.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 11 May 2016 (the “AGM”), the scheme
mandate limit under the share option scheme of the
Company was refreshed again so that the Company
was authorised to grant additional share options for
subscription for a total of 86,443,000 shares under the
refreshed mandate limit, representing approximately 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the AGM. The aggregate number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options that may be
granted under the refreshed mandate limit and upon the
exercise of the outstanding options previously granted is
not permitted to exceed 30% of the shares in issue at any
point of time.
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(Continued)

At 31 December 2021, the number of ordinary shares
remained outstanding in respect of which options had
been granted on 24 June 2013 (“2013 June Option”),
15 May 2015 (“2015 May Option”) and 7 April 2017
(“2017 April Option”) is 75,589,000 (2020: 198,276,000),
representing 6% of the total ordinary shares of the
Company (2020: 15%) in issue at the end of the reporting
period.

Options shall be exercised in the following manner:

Options granted to directors and employees on 19
January 2010 and 16 August 2010

. 5% of the options shall become exercisable upon
6-months of the date of grant

° Additional 10% of the options shall become
exercisable upon the first anniversary of the date of
grant

° Additional 35% of the options shall become

exercisable upon the second anniversary of the
date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable upon the third anniversary of the date
of grant

Options granted to directors on 28 February 2011

° 50% of the options shall become exercisable on
the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable after 9 January 2012

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #tZ —ZF —

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(Continued)

Options granted to employees on 28 February 2011

° 50% of the options shall become exercisable on
the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable after 12 January 2012

Options granted to directors and employees on
24 June 2013

° 50% of the options shall become exercisable on
the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable after 23 June 2014

Options granted to directors and employees on
15 May 2015

° 50% of the options shall become exercisable on
the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable after 14 May 2016

Options granted to directors, employees and
consultants on 7 April 2017

° 50% of the options shall become exercisable on
the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall become
exercisable after 6 April 2018

Under the Scheme and the New Scheme, the exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of () the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (i) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, share options
of 122,687,000 (2020: 17,794,000) were forfeited and

expired.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Options granted to directors and employees on

19 January 2010 and 16 August 2010

31. LURBRHAERNGRRE @@

RRBRzREEERBRE S @)

BE_ZTZ-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE "
126womﬁﬁh%5%&&J%L_?
T 17,794,0001) °

Bz BRBRIZHBWT

R-FE—ZFF—F+NAR-FE—FF
NA+AARFEERESHEBRE

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date
BRERR RitiBH GRS s i RELREZARE
2010 January Option 19.01.2010 19.01.2010t0 18.01.2013  19.07.20100 18.01.2020 HK$0.200 HK$0.1330
ZE-TE-RERE 19.01.2010 19.01.2010218.01.2013  19.07.2010%18.01.2020 0.2007L 0.1330%8T
2010 August Option 16.08.2010 16.08.201010 15.08.2013  16.02.2011 t0 15.08.2020 HK$0.840 HK$0.5289
“T-TE)\AlE 16.08.2010 16.08.2010215.082013  16.02.2011%15.08.2020 0.840%T 05289 T

Option granted to directors and employees on

R-FE——F_F-F+/NARTEER

28 February 2011 ES>BRE

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date

BRESR RiEAH GBS L 4 REHAHZANE

2011 February Option

“EECRERE

Grant to directors 28.02.2011 N/A 28.02.2011 t0 09.01.2021 HK$0.730 HK$0.3308

RkrE% 28.02.2011 i 28.02.2011 Z 09.01.2021 0.730%7 033080

Grant fo directors 28.02.2011 28.02.20111009.01.2012  10.01.2012 to 09.01.2021 HK$0.730 HK$0.3417

Rk7E% 28.02.2011 2802.2011 £ 00012012 10.01.2012 Z 09.01.2021 0.73047 034178

Grant to employees 28.02.2011 N/A 28.02.2011 t0 12.01.2021 HKS0.714 HK$0.3366

RTEE 28.02.2011 Byl 28.02.2011 2 12.01.2021 0.714%T 0.3366/3 T

Grant to employees 28.02.2011 2802.20111012.01.2012  13.01.2012 10 12.01.2021 HKS0.714 HK$0.3417

RTEE 28.02.2011 28022011 £12.01.2012  13.01.2012 £ 12.01.2021 0.714%T 034173

Option granted to directors and employees on RoE—=EAF 1A EFEER

24 June 2013 ES B

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date

BRESR RiLpH k] i) e RELABZARE

2013 June Option

“E-=EXAERE

Grant to directors 24.06.2013 N/A 24.06.2013t0 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0506

ol £ 24,06.2013 NER 24,06.2018 Z 23.06.2023 011227 005067 T

Grant to directors 24.06.2013 24.06.20131023.06.2014  24.06.2014 t0 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0522

RkTEZ 24,06.2013 24062013 5 23.06.2014  24.06.2014 Z 23.08.2023 011227t 0052257

Grant o employees 2406.2013 N/A 24.06.2013 10 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0506

RS 24,06.2013 i 24.0.2013 % 23.08.2023 011225 0050670

Grant to employees 24.06.2013 24.06.2013t023.06.2014  24.06.2014 t0 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0522

RTER 24062013 24062013 £ 23.06.2014  24.06.2014 Z 23.06.2023 0.112257 0.05227L
SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

31. LRHGAEERBSIRXRZ @)

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company RRRZREEEBRESTS(2)

(Continued)

Option granted to directors and employees on R-E-—ZBZFZATEARTEERES

15 May 2015 ZIBRE

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date

BERER RHRE GRS s iR RELABZARE

2015 May Option

“E-RnEnAERE

Grant to a director 16.05.2015 N/A 16.05.2015 to 14.06.2025 HK$0.43 HKS0.2648

R¥ES 15,05.2015 0l 15.05.2015 Z 14.05.2025 043%7 02648% 7T

Grant o a director 15.05.2015 15.06.201510 14.05.2016  15.05.2016 t0 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2694

R¥ES 15.05.2015 15.05.2015  14.05.2016  15.05.2016 % 14.05.2025 043%7T 0260457

Grant to employees 15.05.2015 N/A 15.05.2015 10 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2243

RTEE 15.05.2015 Byl 15.05.2015 £ 14.05.2025 04357 0.22435T

Grant to employees 15.05.2015 15.05.201510 14.05.2016  15.05.2016 10 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2372

RTER 16.06.2015 16.05.2015 £ 14.06.2016  15.05.2016 £ 14.05.2025 04357 0.2372T

Option granted to directors, employees and R-E—+ERNF+tAZRTEE - EER

consultants on 7 April 2017 B Z B R

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date

BRESR iR GBS i) 4 RELABZALE

2017 April Option

ZE-CEMARRE

Grant to a director 07.04.2017 N/A 07.04.2017 to 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0865

KTz 07.04.2017 1R 07.04.2017 Z 06.04.2027 0.1820%7 0086577

Grant to a director 07.04.2017 07.04.2017 0 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 to 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HKS$0.0949

RTES 07.04.2017 07.04.2017 2 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 Z 06.04.2027 0.18208T 0.00497 T

Grant to employees and consultants 07.04.2017 N/A 07.04.2017 to 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HKS$0.0846

R TEE RER 07.04.2017 R 07.04.2017 Z 06.04.2027 0.18208T 0.08467 T

Grant to employees and consultants 07.04.2017 (7.04.2017 10 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 t0 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0920

TS RER 07.04.2017 07.04.2017 2 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 Z 06.04.2027 0.18208T 0.0020A7

FREM(RE)ROERAR
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

(Continued)

The following tables disclose the movement of the share

TRE

R BERARRS (@)

ARFZREGHEBRET8(2)

WoB =2 BREED)

options during 2021.
Option type RS
Granted to director KTEZF
2011 February Option TS REkE 76,902 = = (76,902) =
2013 June Option “E-ZE RABRE 47 - - - 47
2015 May Option —T-AFRARKRE 2,248 = = = 2,248
2017 April Option T tEMARRE 2,490 = = = 2,490
81,687 - - (76,902) 4,785
Exercisable at the end of 2021 JRZZ=—FRKIHF 4,785
Weighted average exercise price BT TEE 0.5956 - - 0.6035 0.2517
Granted to employees and non- RTEERFEE
employees
2011 February Option - Employees = Z——% = AER#E 14,540 = = (14,540) =
—-E8
2013 June Option - Employees “E-=F RERE 7,335 = (592) = 6,743
B8
2015 May Option - Employees “T-hERABRE 20,408 = (7,512) = 12,896
—-E8
2017 April Option - Employees T tFMARRE 31,661 = (12,919) - 18,742
B8
2017 April Option - Non-employees  ~Z—+F M AR E 42,645 = (10,222) = 32,423
-¥EE
116,589 - (31,245) (14,540) 70,804
Exercisable at the end of 2021 IRZEZ—FRTE 70,804
Weighted average exercise price ~ JIHEF 91T (B 0.2449 - 0.0948 0.7315 0.1810
SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 31. LROREBRFARRSB @)

(Continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company RRARZBRELEEBRESTE(2)
(Continued)
The following tables disclose the movement of the share TREEN-_ZE-_TF 2 BREFS) :
options during 2020.
Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Expired  Outstanding
at during during during at
1.1.2020 year year year  31.12.2020
i 2_2$ RZT-TF
. » - /7 \ \ TZA=+-H
Option type iR ﬁ%ﬁﬁ RERIE  REREH AEREIE RARTTE
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000
T T T T T
Granted to director RTE=F
2010 January Option “T-TE-ARRE 2,130 = = (2,130) =
2011 February Option TS AEkE 76,902 = = = 76,902
2013 June Option “E-=F RERE 47 = = = 47
2015 May Option “E-nFnABRE 2,248 = = - 2,248
2017 April Option TN ARRE 2,490 - - - 2,490
83,817 - - 2,130) 81,687
Exercisable at the end of 2020 IRZZ-TERTE 81,687
Weighted average exercise price  fIEFH{THEE 0.5848 - - 0.1690 0.5956
Granted to employees and non- ETEERFER
employees
2010 January Option - Employees ~ —F—FF—ABfE 6,957 = = (6,957) =
—EB
2010 August Option - Employees =% — gi/\ﬂ TRixiE 2,792 - - (2,792) =
— E
2011 February Option - Employees =% — j AERE 14,540 - - - 14,540
—EB
2013 June Option - Employees g{E ERABRE 7,335 - - - 7335
— E
2015 May Option - Employees “E-nfnARRE 20,408 = = = 20,408
—EB
2017 April Option - Employees Eﬁtim RERE 37,576 - (5,915) - 31,661
—EB
2017 April Option - Non-employees —Z E{%ﬁ@ RERIE 42,645 = = = 42,645
— =
132,053 - (5,915) 9,749) 116,589
Exercisable at the end of 2020 JRZZ-ZTFREIHF 116,589
Weighted average exercise price  JIEFHTTHEE 0.2449 - 0.1538 0.3240 0.2386
During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no HE-_ZT-_—"FR-_ZE-_ZTF+=A
share-based payment recognised to share options granted = —1— BIEFE - SR AR AR
to directors, employees or non-employees respectively. RO HAAES - & E\ ERIEREERE
%%k%

FREHS(EE)RBERLT
171 —E—_FER

—_—



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributed 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the MPF scheme, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000, which contribution
is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the respective local governments in the PRC. The Group
is required to contribute 26%-28% (2020: 26%—-28%) of
payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is
to make the specified contributions.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 33. AATMBARZFE
COMPANY
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the AEEKBARRNRERARZFBHIIW
reporting period are set out below. e
Country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully paid Proportion of Proportion of
establishment/  share capital/ voting power ownership interest
Name of company operations registered capital held by the Company for 2021 and 2020 Principal activities
HMEL/RY/ BRTRARRA/ FRAREL R-B--§R-3-%F
AER e AMERzHE S BEASM IEEH
2021 2020 Direct Indirect
“EC-F | Z20%% E# Bl
Sing Leg Electronics (B.V.I,)  British Virgin Islands 715 shares of 100% 100% 100% - Investment holding
Co., Lid. USS1 each
Sing Lee Flectronics B.V) XERXEE 115k EREE 100% 100% 100% - REBR
Co,, Lid. E3%4, 0
Singlee Software' PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - 100%  Development and sales of
US$4,325,500 software products, sales of
related hardware products
and provision of technical
services
gl Gl 432550050 100% 100% - 100% HENEERER  HER
iftaxR BEUER  ARRERE
s
Singlee Technology? PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - 100%  Development and sales of
US36,714,000 Software products, sales of
related hardware products
and provision of technical
services
il hE 6,714,000%TC 100% 100% - 100% WENEERHER HE
AR EEREHER R
UL
Xin YinTong? PRC Registered capital 100% 100% = 100%  Development and sales of
RMB50,000,000 software products, sales of
related hardware products
and provision of technical
services
il i Gl ARH50,00000070 100% 100% - 100% HENHERHER HE
ftaxR TR ER - DR
UL
1 Singlee Software is wholly foreign owned enterprise. i Mg REINERE -
2 Singlee Technology and Xin YinTong are sino-foreign equity joint 2 AR RBAEREKIHFINGES

ventures established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. EXEBERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AEBEBEEANMBRASEE 2 EE
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern AIARELE  WEBBLABRIRANE
while maximising the return to shareholders through the BRRERER ATRERALR - AEFF
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s [EHE - AREE 2 BRI o
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings, REB s EARERIEREBEE ENE
amounts due to directors and bank balances and cash, ERIARBITESKRERSRARRHEE A
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, JEMRIRA(HARBIERAE - RHEE - Rt
comprising share capital, share premium, accumulated E51E R i) o
losses and other reserves.
The directors of the Group review the capital structure on AEEEETGFF—RRTERNERE - {F
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors ﬁ;*ﬁETZ*ﬁB CEBEEEERELRKAR
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with AR FE R & AR 2 B o ﬁﬁ = AR &
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the BE=EZ  EBIIRE - BTN
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure FETHESXERIIRSE 1E%X$1§Iﬁ§
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as BEE LR o
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. ©@TA
35a. Categories of financial instruments 35a. E@EITEER
2021 2020
—E_—F —EFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised RESE AR R EE
costs 87,124 91,689
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEABEZ SR
BE 163 170
87,287 91,859
Financial liabilities EHEE
Amortised cost AR 37,275 67,764

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

174



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL, bank balances and cash, amounts
due to directors, amount due to immediate
holding company, trade and other payables and
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk, currency risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group has bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, amounts due to
directors, amount due to immediate holding
company and borrowings denominated
in US$ and HK$, currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. In addition, the
group has intra-group balances with
several subsidiaries denominated in foreign
currency which also expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need to
arise.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amount of the foreign
currency denominated monetary assets

and monetary liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

35. ©@MIA®
35b. SEEKREEENRBERE)
TR ()
(i EMm e (&)
R EHRAIINE ST ENE
BEEMEKEENEREE
NN
2021 2020
—B=-—F —TFTF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE afE BE =

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

ARBTRE ARBTRE ARBTT ARETRT

us$ e 23 - 24 =
HK$ BIT 504 21,143 13,416 45,573
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT

The following table details the sensitivity to
a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease
in the RMB against US$ and HK$. The
5% (2020: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a
5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive (negative) number indicates
an increase (decrease) in the post-tax (loss)/
profit where RMB strengthens against US$
and HK$. For a 5% (2020: 5%) weakening
of RMB against US$ and HK$, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit and the balances below would be
negative.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. @I E#)
Financial risk management objectives and 35b. SEIEMREEBNRBE®E)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) R ()
{0 Currency risk (Continued) (i EMm e ()
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE DT (&)
US$ Impact HK$ Impact
EnvE By E
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E-—F —IT-FTF B —F —T-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETT AR®ETRE ARETT
Profit or loss Bz (1) (1) 874 1,370

This is mainly attributable to the net
exposure to outstanding foreign currency
bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amounts due to directors,
amount due to immediate holding company
and borrowings in US$ or HK$ at end of the
reporting period.

(ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate secured
loans and unsecured loans from bank,
unsecured loans from a director (see
note 27 for details) and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable rate
bank balances (see note 23 for details).
The management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need to arise.

The directors consider that the cash flow
interest rate risk is insignificant, accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis were presented for
both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investments in unlisted
funds. The sensitivity analyses have been
determined on the exposure to the market
price risks at the end of reporting period.
If the prices of the investments in unlisted
funds had been 5% higher or lower,
the post-tax loss for the year ended 31
December 2021 would have increased or
decreased by approximately RMB7,000
(2020: RMB7,000) respectively as a result
of the changes in fair value on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets. There is no significant changes in the
collateral policies of the entity during both reporting
periods.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period. The Group also
adopts legal and appropriate measures to collect
overdue debts and reduce credit losses through,
amongst others, phone calls, facsimile, letters,
visits, interviews, as well as legal actions as the final
resort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #tZ —ZF —

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually with significant balances
and/or on a collective basis. Except for items
that are subject to individual evaluation, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables and contract assets
are assessed collectively based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers and current past
due exposure for the new customers. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment
losses of RMB3,500,000 (2020: RMB4,801,000) is
recognised and impairment losses of RMB481,000
(2020: RMB215,000) has been reversed. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.

The Group has concentration of credit risk of 86%
(2020: 52%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s top five largest customers
in relation to the provision of technical support
services business segment.

Other receivables and bank balances

The Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 on other
receivables and bank balances based on 12m
ECL.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because the counterparties have no historical
default record and the directors expect that the
general economic conditions will not significantly
changed for the 12 months after the reporting date.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks/financial
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35.

35b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and bank balances (Continued)

Based on the Group’s internal credit rating, no
material impairment loss allowance is recognised
for other receivables and bank balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings.

The Group’s internal credlit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

@I R
35b. REMEEENRBE®E)

EE R R B EFE ()

B [EWIRA R IRTTAZ R (48)
REASENABEETFHR  ALE
FLE b EU R R IRTT AR IE R &
KB ERE B -

AEBHERDES (FRREHG
EEFEHRITEERTRR
AEENABEERRERTHE
ET5IER

Trade receivables Other financial

Internal credit rating ~ Description and contract assets assets/other items
AEEE TR it ERESERRANEE HttemEE HUER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and ~ Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
iVENS HFFARERENRR  BYREMARFE 2HEHEERL- 1EAESREERX
BEEHE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRELE EEABERIRRRES ERERIBE%E 2HRBEER5- 1EAESREERX
&E BEEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit  Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
risk since initial recognition through information  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
&t ARHEERINRERERAEERRE MR 2HREBEERL- S HEREERL-
YNGR BEEHE REEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BR FBERTEEREERE PHEHREERL- P HESREER.-
EiEERE REEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin  Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
ik BERBENMEBARNREN KR MASE MiHz0R MaETUE

BARBAEARERE
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35. @I E#)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Other receivables and bank balances (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets and other items which

35b.

EE/mfE R B E G ()

sREREEENREEK®)

B JEW BRI R IRTTHE £ (48)

TREJIAEBALETHEBERER
ReHENeREEREMEARNE

are subject to ECL assessment: EREBFE
2021 2020
=¥=-%| _T_%TF
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit carrying carrying
Notes rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount amount
HiaE MIEETR ABEETR 12BRR2HRNEERE REAE RELE
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETE
Financial assets at amortised
cost
RBERATIR 2 CHEE
Bank balances 23 BA2to AMA  N/A 12-month ECL 44,331 58,157
BT 23 BAOZAMA A 12EAEHEER.
Other receivables 21 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 12,036 6,470
Hth AR 21 TEm (Hit1) 12EARSREERR
Trade receivables 21 N/A Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 2,349 3,746
EREFEH 21 TEm (Wit2) T HRHEERA(AATE)
- contracts with customers BA2 to BAAT  N/A Lifetime ECL (external credit rating) 28,142 23,586
-EPaH BA2ZBAAT  ANEF PHEBEERR(MMEETAR)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 311 365
TER B rHEBEERA(EEERE)
Other items
HhiEH
Contract assets 22 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 107 %
AKBE 2 TER (o) THRBEERA(BAEE)
BA2to BAAT  N/A Lifetime ECL (external credit rating) 517 499
BA2ZEBAAT  TNER SHRHBEERAOMPEER)
FREM(RE)ROERAR
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35.

35b.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©@MIA®
Financial risk management objectives and 35b. SRIEMEEENREEE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= BB 52 R E S ()
(Continued)
Other receivables and bank balances (Continued) E b fEWBR A R BRI TAZ R (48)
Notes: irzan
1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, 1. RADEERBRERNS @ AREE
the Group uses past due information to assess whether RaBERHaEERBRERE 89
credit risk has increased significantly since initial IRFERIB AR o
recognition.
Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
B
B b 4% [ 7B B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREETIT AREET T
Other receivables E h FE YR K - 12,036 12,036
2. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group 2. HERBESERRENEE A5E

has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors with external credit rating or credit-impaired
assessed individually with significant balances, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items collectively, grouped by internal credit rating and
past due status of respective trade receivable and
contract assets.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating together with
past due status for its customers in relation to its
operation. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables and contract assets which are assessed
based on collective assessment within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with external
credit rating or credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of RMB28,142,000 and RMB311,000
respectively as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB23,586,000 and RMB365,000) were assessed
individually.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©@IAw®
35b. Financial risk management objectives and 35b. SEEREEENRBEEKRE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1EE R fE R B E S ()
(Continued)
Other receivables and bank balances (Continued) E Y IRF R IRTTAS R ()
The estimated average loss rates are estimated BEEHEEXBRIERESAER
based on historical observed default rates over the FHABTBERMEBENERAIE
expected life of the debtors and forward-looking MER(AIETEBBRZA AN TIE
information that is available without undue cost RIER TES R B R #EITMET © %
or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by DHEBEEETHRN  BREH
management to ensure relevant information about ERTEEBANEBAERSER -
specific debtors is updated. The contract assets EHEEHEREGNNERE SR
have substantially the same risk characteristics HKEBREMER® R B -
as the trade receivables for the same type of bt - NEEZRAREE M EWE
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that SEFRENEERIBRE
the loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
2021 2020
—B--F “T_TF
Internal Average Trade Contract Average Trade Contract
credit rating WEE TR loss rate receivables assets lossrate  receivables assets
¥4 el 19 FELR
Bxx  ERER  ANEE BAX BHER  ANEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR ARETT AR®TT
Low risk KER 4.20% 1,095 46 1.54% 1,997 95
Watch list BEZE 34.14% 602 61 2.9% 1,258 -
Doubtful A&t 83.25% 652 - 11.23% 491 -
2,349 107 3,746 95

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group provided approximately RMB775,000 (2020:
RMB2,572,000) impairment allowance for trade
receivables based on the collective assessment.
No impairment allowance was provided for contract
assets, based on the collective assessment for
both years.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©@MIA®
35b. Financial risk management objectives and 35b. SEIEMREEENRBEE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERfER B E S ()
(Continued)
Other receivables and bank balances (Continued) E Y IRF R IRTTAS A ()
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRINRIEEGEE W E 5 AR
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables RREHNEECHERNDAEAE
and contract assets under the simplified approach. EBXEF -
Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL
(external (collective (credit-
credit rating) assessment) impaired) Total
2 A
EEBRX 2 A 2HIES
(MBEE FEBRX FERX%
TR (BEFMEE) (BEERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARE®TT ARETT ARBTR
Asat1January2020 R-ZE-ZF—H-—H 226 251 - 477
— Impairment losses — EERREEE
recognised 1,849 2,572 380 4,801
— Impairment losses - BEEREEE
reversed (101) (114) - (215)
— Transfer to credit- —EEEEERE
impaired (1,716) (2,011) 3,727 -
- Write-offs — isH - - (3,727) (8,727)
- Reclassified to assets ~ — EF B AEEE
held for sale HEEE (90) (399) - (489)
As at 31 December R-Z-FF
2020 +=ZA=+—H 168 299 380 847
— Impairment losses — BRRREESE
recognised 134 775 2,591 3,500
— Impairment losses — BEEREEE
reversed (95) (170) (216) (481)
— Transfer to credit- —EBREEERE
impaired (20) (88) 108 -
- Write-offs — s = = (2,552) (2,552)
As at 31 December R-E=-—F
2021 +=ZHA=+—H 187 816 311 1,314
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #tZ —ZF —

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and bank balances (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are
over three years past due, whichever occurs earlier.
None of the trade receivables that have been
written off is subject to enforcement activities.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalent as well as undrawn banking facilities
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from weighted average interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ©@MIA®
35b. Financial risk management objectives and 35b. SEIEMREEENRBEE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB 2R ()
Liquidity risk table B E DR
Weighted ~ On demand Between Between Total
average or less one and twoand  Morethan undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  thaniyear  twoyears  fiveyears  fiveyears  cashflows amount
mE  BEXY AERRS
ToRE  -FREE -EWE  CERE O BEME REEE HEf
RMB’000 RVMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RVMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARET:R
2021 —E--E
Trade and other payables ERE AR - 6,163 - = = 6,163 6,163
Amounts due to directors ERESHE - 733 - - - 738 3
Amount due to immediate ERERERAAFE
holding company - 1 - - - 1 11
Unsecured loans from a director  EEFEZEE 2.710% 476 - 49 23,276 23,801 18,368
Bank borrowings REE 4.83% 125579 - - = 125579 12,000
Lease liabilties HERR 6.00% 166 - - - 166 157
20,128 - 49 23,216 43,453 37,432
2020 —ECEE
Trade and other payables EREARAME - 3316 = - = 3316 3316
Amounts due to directors EHESHE - 648 - - - 648 648
Amount due to immediate ENERERAAE
holding company - 11 - - - il 11
Unsecured loans from a director & EZ(EE 2.83% 1,719 10,724 1,501 40,87 56,231 44,789
Bank borrowings R/TRE 4.35% 19,825 - - - 19,825 19,000
Lease labities fEaR 6.00% 439 16 - - 455 454
25,958 10,740 1,501 42,287 80,486 68,218
SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F ——#+_-H=+—HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. @I E#)
35c. Fair value 35c. AR
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) rEFLHEERLHERE
assets and financial liabilities that are ZRAABEREAZMEE
measured at fair value on a recurring HARLEE
basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and AEEBHEMEER SR
financial liabilities are measured at fair value BEDERSHREHARNA
at the end of each reporting period. The AEFTE o TRIEHBBZ
following table gives information about EEMEEARENETES
how the fair values of these financial assets N(LHEFRAMERERE
are determined (in particular, the valuation ABB)UREAET 28
technique(s) and inputs used) as well as the ABBA TEENEEMD
level of the fair value hierarchy into which HARBEFENARERER
the fair value measurements are categorised (B1E3E)WNER -
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.
Fair value as at
RUTHEHARE
31 December 31 December  Valuation Fair value technique
2021 2020 hierarchy and key inputs
SS-—& | _"T_%Tf
TZA=t-H TZA=1—H A2QAEEER  HEFEREESAYE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETTL
Financial assets at fair value through 163 170 Level3 Redemption values quoted by the
profit or loss (Note 20) relevant investment funds with
reference to the underlying assets of
the funds.
BROAER ARG EREEHH20) 163 170 %3E BERAHSREES CEHEEMT
HEREE -
| ih /_\E
187 A (KE) R ERATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 —F = —F+=—A=1—HI F/EF

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. E®MIAmw

35c. Fair value (Continued)

35c.

DAREE)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) FrEFCHEERCHERE
assets and financial liabilities that are ZAREIRELEMEEE
measured at fair value on a recurring BRAREEE)
basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value FIBANETEZHEE -
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BAREFABRCSREE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET R ARBTTT
Opening balance HA¥ER%E 170 181
Fair value loss in profit or loss 1Bz HYA /S EEE () =
Exchange difference M ZE 5 (4) (11)
Closing balance HAR 484 163 170
There were no transfers in and out from WEEE NFEIBHEE A K
level 3 in both years. B o
(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) FEFCHEERLHERE

assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures are required)

The fair values of the financial assets and
financial liabilities have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying

ZARETURBEEMHE
BEAAETE(BFERE
HEarnE)

TREENERAGBIAN

BINRBEAREERAIZE,
BIRERANETE -

EERREEMBHRRIZE

amounts of financial assets and financial ERATERZEMEELS
liabilities recognised at amortised cost BmeEs s REEREARE
in the consolidated financial statements A °

approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities

RiTEE  HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTL
(Note 27) (Note 28)
(Hitzr)  (Wzs)

BMETHELENEENHEER

TRAMAEEREMEETINEEE
B ERAELFReEY - RETDE
ENABEARSREME  HARAKRRER
EREAREGARSRERT I RSRE
BRPHRDIRE

Amount

due to an

Unsecured Amounts  immediate

loans from due to holding
a director directors company Total

g B —ME#E

EEfE BAESHE ZRAANE G

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%T:

(Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 29)

(Hier)  (Witze)  (Hi29)

As at 1 January 2020 R-E-FF—F—H 11,000 459 57,471 783 12 69,725
Financing cash flows HERENE 7,362 (1,383) (10,682) (121) = (4,824)
New lease entered HEHE = 1,348 = = = 1,348
Foreign exchange translation ~ SMNE % - - (3,558) (14) (1) (3,579)
Interest expense FBH 638 30 1,558 = = 2996
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZTE+_A

=t-H 19,000 454 44,789 648 11 64,902
Financing cash flows HERENE (7,760) (1,177) (26,299) 112 - (35,124)
New lease entered #AIHE - 856 = - - 856
Foreign exchange translation ~ 4ME J# - - (844) (27) - (871)
Interest expense FMEZH 760 24 722 - - 1,506
At 31 December 2021 R-B--£+=8

=+-A 12,000 157 18,368 733 11 31,269

A (KE) R ERATR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BELRRS
Apart from details of the balances with related parties B T4 BIISIRERMIAEF A9 « 26 + 27 K29
disclosed in notes 9, 26, 27 and 29 to the consolidated HORAES 7 AER IR ER - ANEERFREITA
financial statements, the Group entered into the following THERIRS :
related party transactions during the year:
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEEAEHS
The remuneration of directors and other members of key AFEEEERFTEEEEZKE Z2MEW
management during the year were as follows: N
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Short-term employee benefits REEEET 3,830 4,614
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFFT B 51
contributions 231 279
4,061 4,893
Short-term lease expenses EHEESRX
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Short-term lease expenses paid to ST H B 223k ) OB RR A RIAY
Sing Lee Pharmaceutical Import MAEBMEHEERS
& Export Co., Limited for lease of
office premises 521 559
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had commitments ﬁé:;ﬁ:—i‘i’_ A=+—8" ?f—l—ir

of approximately RMB261,000 (2020: RMB280,000) for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases for the next year in respect of office
premises leasing with a related company, Sing Lee
Pharmaceutical Import & Export Co., Limited, which the
director, Mr. Hung Yung Lai, has 50% equity interest with
joint control.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —#+ = H=+—HIFFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE D B B AR R
COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Non-current Assets FkRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries =) NG 3,131 3,131
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUWHI B A FIRE 237 21,986
3,368 25,117
Current Assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables B kI8 K E b fE I BR 7R 274 1,567
Financial assets at fair value through ZAREFABREZ £ REE
profit or loss 163 170
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIIRE 449 13,228
886 14,965
Current Liabilities REBEE
Other payables E TR SR 2,479 1,000
Amounts due to directors e EERIA 733 648
Amount due to immediate holding ~ FEfT B EIEA A RIZIA
company 11 11
Borrowings BE - 1,625
3,223 3,284
Net Current (Liabilities) Asset RE(EE)EEFE (2,337) 11,681
Total Assets less Current BEERRBERE
Liabilities 1,031 36,798
Capital and Reserves ERR#E
Share capital (Note 30) RRAS(H12£30) 12,538 12,538
Reserves (Note) s () (29,370) (17,969)
Total Equity eyt (16,832) (5,431)
Non-current Liability FERBEE
Borrowings BE 17,863 42,229
1,031 36,798
A (KE) R ERATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 {2 = F = —4#+ = H=+—HIFF/F

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. ZAAQTEBKMRRF@

COMPANY (Continuead)
Note: Kt
Share-based
Share Shareholder’s payments Accumulated
premium  contribution reserve losses Total
URGBHER
BRAD R E BRERMRK RS RitEE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBFT AREBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-ZT&—A—8 179,132 786 33,394 (225,904) (12,592)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEEEEMAY
expense for the year 4aER - - - (5,377) (5,377)
Lapse of share options M AR R 2 - - (2,408) 2,403 -
At 31 December 2020 RZZ=ZTF+=A
=+—8 179,132 786 30,991 (228,878) (17,969)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEFEBEREEMY
expense for the year 4z - - - (11,401) (11,401)
Lapse of share options PE AR RN - - (24,360) 24,360 =
At 31 December 2021 N=-—TB=-—F+=A
Eqr=|gl 179,132 786 6,631 (215,919) (29,370)
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